SNOW'S BEND (1TU2/3) AND THE LANDSCAPES OF THE MOUNDVILLE CHIEFDOM:

A MULTI-METHOD GEOPHYSICAL SURVEY

by

STEVEN JOSEPH FILOROMO

ELLIOT BLAIR, COMMITTEE CHAIR MARYSIA GALBRAITH COURTNEY HELFRECHT ALAIN PLATTNER VINCAS STEPONAITIS ALEXANDRE TOKOVININE

A THESIS

Submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Arts in the Department of Anthropology in the Graduate School of The University of Alabama

TUSCALOOSA, ALABAMA

Copyright Steven J. Filoromo 2022 ALL RIGHTS RESERVED

ABSTRACT

Moundville's greater landscapes are vital to understanding the dynamics of social change and continuity during the Mississippian period over time and across space. These landscapes play essential roles in conceptualizing movement and changing relationships in the Black Warrior Valley, particularly during a period of regional reorganization, where communities built new villages and mounds while leaving Moundville. Here, I focus on one of these villages, named Snow's Bend. Snow's Bend (1TU2/3) is a Moundville III (1400-1520 CE) site containing a mound and cemetery in the Black Warrior River Valley. In this project, I ground a noninvasive and non-destructive geophysical and remote sensing survey in a practice-based approach to reveal notions of community, movement, and place-making within the Moundville Chiefdom's extended social landscapes in the Black Warrior River Valley. I use magnetic gradiometry and electrical resistance to discern the community's size, extent, and organization and determine the relationship between different features over time and across space. I identify three potential neighborhoods that show spatial continuity between the mound and cemetery. While potential houses appear in clusters, there are an abundance of pits throughout the site that might suggest an aggregated population. Considering the spatial organization of architecture, there might be subtle community acts of symbolic distancing, shown through the orientation of private spaces away from the mound. These findings call for a greater attention to the unique histories of mound centers, particularly as people moved from Moundville to the hinterlands.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

Archaeology is a collaborative endeavor, and this research was not possible without the support of many people who provided essential perspectives throughout this project. I am very thankful to Margaret Ann and David Snow for their support of this project and for providing access to Snow's Bend. First, I would like to thank my adviser, Elliot Blair, for his kind and generous support, encouragement, and mentorship throughout this process. Attending graduate school and conducting this project throughout a global pandemic has brought about many challenges, and his guidance was vital in completing this research program. Moreover, his expertise was an essential part of my studies in archaeological geophysics and archaeologies of landscapes. I would also like to thank my committee members, including Marysia Galbraith, Courtney Helfrecht, Alain Plattner, Vin Steponaitis, and Alexandre Tokovinine, for their support of this project and for providing essential perspectives that guided my research. Moreover, I would like to thank members of the Southeastern Archaeology Lab, including Mike Fedoroff, Claiborne Sea, and Allison Smith, for their support in the field, in writing, and their help in finding solutions to different obstacles that arose. Additionally, I want to thank other faculty in the Department of Anthropology, including Katherine Chiou, Cameron Lacquement, Christopher Lynn, Stephanie McClure, and Sonya Pritzker, as well as my colleague Michael Smetana for their feedback throughout different aspects of this project.

Without the help of many of my colleagues in the field, this project would not have been possible. First, I would like to thank Christina Friberg for collecting nearly all of the magnetometry data in December 2019. Throughout the past year, multiple people have

iii

generously donated their time in the field to assist in data collection, including Clara Alexander, Elliot Blair, Cynthia Hannold, Marinda Lawley, Emily McKenzie, Alain Plattner, Caleb Ranum, Claiborne Sea, Flavio Silva de la Mora, Allison Smith, Julia Sponholtz, Bea Torres-Rios, and Austin Tranberg. I would also like to thank the Research Laboratories of Archaeology at the University of North Carolina, particularly Vin Steponaitis, Margie Scarry, and Anna Graham, for transporting and allowing me to use their magnetic gradiometer. Moreover, I would like to thank Brianna Bryan, Cheyenne Davis, Marinda Lawley, Maegan McCane, Alex Sents, Julia Sponholtz, and Austin Tranberg for making my time at Alabama fun.

CONTENTS

ABSTRACT	ii
ACKNOWLEDGMENTS	iii
LIST OF FIGURES	viii
LIST OF TABLES	X
1. INTRODUCTION	1
ORGANIZATION OF THESIS	5
2. SNOW'S BEND AND THE MOUNDVILLE CHIEFDOM	6
MAKING MISSISSIPPIAN COMMUNITIES	7
West Jefferson (AD 1000–1120) and Moundville I (AD 1120–1250)	9
MOUNDVILLE II (AD 1250–1400)	11
MOUNDVILLE III (AD 1400–1520)	13
Moundville IV (AD 1520–1690)	15
PREVIOUS INVESTIGATIONS AT SNOW'S BEND	17
Snow's Bend Cemetery and Village (1TU2)	17
Snow's Bend Mound (1TU3)	21
Snow's Bend in Context	22

CHAPTER SUMMARY	23
3. CONSTRUCTING LANDSCAPES AND COMMUNITIES	25
Defining Community	
DAILY PRACTICE	
CONSTRUCTING SPACE, CONSTRUCTING LANDSCAPES	
INTEGRATING THEORY AND METHOD	
4. METHODS	
Electrical Resistance	40
Electrical Resistance Survey Design	43
Magnetic Gradiometry	43
Magnetic Gradiometer Survey Design	46
DATA PROCESSING, INTEGRATION, AND ANALYSIS	46
5. RESULTS AND DISCUSSION	
Magnetometry Survey	
RESISTANCE SURVEY	
INTEGRATION	
Discussion	70
Identifying Mississippian Settlement at Snow's Bend	71
Mississippian Settlement Patterns in the Black Warrior River Valley	
Social Landscapes at Snow's Bend	77
Moundville's Changing Social Landscape	81
CHAPTER SUMMARY	

6. CONCLUSION	
LIMITATIONS	
FUTURE DIRECTIONS	
DISCUSSION AND CONCLUSION	
BIBLIOGRAPHY	91

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1. Location of Snow's Bend within Tuscaloosa County, Alabama2
Figure 2. Moundville ceramic phases (Steponaitis and Scarry 2016:12)7
Figure 3. Areas of previous investigation at Snow's Bend Village (1TU2) with overlay of the path of the Black Warrior River (blue) in 1938 based on historic aerial photographs
Figure 4. Bozeman's (1982) contour maps for ceramics with updated georeferencing. Contour interval = 10 grams
Figure 5. Daub contour map from Bozeman (1982) with updated georeferencing. Contour interval = 5 grams
Figure 6. Map of survey area with grids outlined over a LiDAR base map. Grids are defined in WGS 1984 in ArcMap 10.7.1
Figure 7. Processed magnetic gradiometer results
Figure 8. Magnetic gradiometer results after eliminating background noise
Figure 9. Interpretive map of magnetic gradiometer results
Figure 10. Interpretive map of magnetic gradiometer results for the North Village54
Figure 11. Interpretive map of magnetic gradiometer results for the South Village
Figure 13. K-means results for electrical resistance survey, k=659
Figure 14. K-means results for electrical resistance survey in the North Village, k=660
Figure 15. K-means results for electrical resistance survey in South Village, k=661
Figure 16. Comparison of interpretive magnetic anomalies in North Village over (A) electrical resistance, and (B) k-means electrical resistance, k=6
Figure 17. Comparison of interpretive magnetic anomalies in South Village over (A) electrical resistance, and (B) k-means electrical resistance, k=6
Figure 18. Primary areas of archaeological interest outlined over magnetic features and defined potential Mississippian architecture

Figure 19. Interpretive map of the North Village, showing potential Mississippian architectural features
Figure 20. Interpretive map of the North Village, showing how features align with distributions of (A) Grog-tempered pottery, (B) Shell-tempered pottery, and (C) Architectural daub from the UMMA survey
Figure 21. Interpretive map of the Orchard, showing potential Mississippian structures
Figure 22. Interpretive map of the South Village, in the South Village, showing potential Mississippian structures

LIST OF TABLES

Table 1. Snow's Bend radiocarbon date from Knight et al (1999) and Welch (1998:141, table
7.1), calibrated in OxCal 4.4 with IntCal20 calibration curve

CHAPTER 1. INTRODUCTION

Extending along the riverbanks of the Black Warrior River in Tuscaloosa and Hale Counties, Alabama, earthen monuments stand today as important sites in the emergent Indigenous landscapes of the Mississippian period, circa AD 1000. For several centuries, communities lived on and moved throughout the riverbanks of the Black Warrior River Valley. Eventually, social groups began constructing earthen platform mounds and modified the landscape, ultimately creating Moundville, a large, multi-mound ceremonial center organized around a 23 ha plaza (Lacquement 2009). For nearly a century, the focal point of Mississippian life was on the ceremonial center. The Moundville chiefdom consisted of complicated social networks that extended from the ceremonial center to the single-mound and nonmound centers throughout Black Warrior River Valley. Single-mound and nonmound settlements comprise the "hinterlands" of the Moundville chiefdom and contain at least fourteen known single-mound centers and numerous nonmound sites (Hammerstedt et al. 2016; Maxham 2004; Welch 1998). Beginning circa AD 1300, those living at the ceremonial center began to reorganize into the valley as their relationship to social and political institutions changed.

Archaeological interpretations of settlement patterns in Moundville's hinterlands generally place sites within a network extending from Moundville. Single-mound sites served as intermediary nodes between the ceremonial center and domestic settlements in the valley. However, the relationship between these communities and Moundville is complicated. Evidence for ritual feasting and craft specialization in the Black Warrior River Valley suggests that communities in the hinterlands maintained social ties with Moundville that differed over time

and across space (Hammerstedt et al. 2016; Marcoux 2007; Scarry et al. 2016). Archaeologists are beginning to shift their focus towards the social landscapes in these "hinterlands." These sites provide a nuanced perspective on the realities of social life during the Mississippian period (Scarry and Steponaitis 2016b). With increasing interest in the hinterlands, Snow's Bend provides an exciting venue to evaluate new understandings of the Moundville Chiefdom's Late Mississippian landscape.

Snow's Bend (1TU2/3) is a single-mound and village site from the late Moundville II (AD 1300-1400) and Moundville III (AD 1400-1520) phases (Figure 1). The site is located several miles from downtown Northport and Tuscaloosa, Alabama. Snow's Bend is one of the few single-mound sites that emerged during the outmigration from Moundville to the Hinterlands in the 14th century.



Figure 1. Location of Snow's Bend within Tuscaloosa County, Alabama

In this study, I use multiple geophysical techniques to investigate the Mississippian landscape of Snow's Bend. I use electrical resistance and magnetic gradiometry to map the village area. In total, the survey area outlined within this study is 2.56 ha, or 25,560 m². After integrating these geophysical datasets through an interpretive map, I then explore how relationships to space manifest throughout the landscape.

As there has only been minimal excavation at Snow's Bend, a non-invasive geophysical survey provides a tool for exploring the spatial organization of the village. Further, integrated remote sensing methods can answer anthropological questions concerning the intersection of space, place, and identity at multiple scales (Thompson et al. 2011). In this study, I employ a practice-based approach (Blair 2013) grounded in geophysical remote sensing to discern how community organization at various scales reflects social life at Snow's Bend. More specifically, this approach will aid in addressing the following objectives:

- 1. Determine the size, extent, and occupation of Snow's Bend. Is Snow's Bend a nucleated village or a small settlement centered around the mound? Given the nearby cemetery, how might discerning the nature of spatial organization elucidate the relationship between both sites? The use of integrated geophysical remote sensing methods will aid in evaluating subsurface archaeological features and patterns. Different remote sensing techniques are sensitive to historical anthropogenic activities, such as agriculture. The use of multiple methods can produce a detailed dataset to understand how residents created space and place at Snow's Bend.
- Understand the relationship between the cemetery, village, and the mound. Depending on the relationship between different areas, how might this affect the relationship to Moundville, which was in the process of becoming a necropolis? To begin asking this

question, I must first evaluate how architecture and other anthropogenic features demonstrate any relationship between the mound and cemetery. The anthropogenic features between both may clearly outline how people construct paths to facilitate movement and interaction between the two sites. This might provide more nuance to the argument that residential group burials at Moundville are a clear example of how social memory evokes meaning to the basic social units in the ceremonial ground (see Wilson 2010).

- 3. Hammerstedt's (2000) settlement pattern model for Moundville's hinterlands suggests single-mound sites such as Snow's Bend are loosely aggregated communities of farmsteads. However, no study has evaluated this on a site-wide basis. Given the capabilities of geophysical surveying in examining the spatial organization of villages, I will be able to compare the validity of this settlement model. In identifying architecture throughout the landscape, I can evaluate whether these expectations are met at Snow's Bend.
- 4. On a larger scale, what might the presence of cemeteries and their relationship to nearby residential areas at Snow's Bend and the White site imply about the relationship between different towns in the hinterlands and Moundville's ceremonial ground? Given the nature of the occupation, what might this indicate considering other models of understanding Moundville's physical and social organization? With recent scholarship arguing that Moundville is a ceremonial ground (Scarry and Steponaitis 2016), single mound sites such as Snow's Bend are increasingly important for understanding the chiefdom's social networks. Remote sensing can clarify their role in regional organization, and as other research has shown, distant sites are generally stable over time and have significant

variability in their use (Scarry et al. 2016). Thus, geophysical remote sensing at Snow's Bend can help understand more nuanced variations of different settlements in the region.

ORGANIZATION OF THESIS

I contextualize Snow's Bend within the Moundville Chiefdom's social landscape in the following chapter. Drawing from archaeological literature pertaining to Moundville's social organization and history, I focus on the hinterlands of the chiefdom. After this review, I provide a record of archaeological research at Snow's Bend.

In the third chapter, I provide a theoretical discussion defining community, practice, space, and landscape to support my integration of geophysical methods with anthropological questions. Specifically, I draw upon several theoretical orientations to evaluate the landscapes of lived spaces and daily practices. I offer a closing section integrating theory and method to bridge the difference between anthropological perspectives and geophysical capabilities.

In Chapter 4, I provide a detailed overview of the geophysical methods used and outline my survey design. In Chapter 5, I discuss the results of each technique and integrate these data into interpretive maps. Using these interpretive maps, I contextualize potential Mississippian features to evaluate how the built environment addresses settlement organization, social landscapes, and the construction and maintenance of community. In the final chapter, I discuss how these data provide new insights into how the built environment of Snow's Bend reflects how the daily practices of its residents relate to the social construction of community in the Moundville chiefdom.

CHAPTER 2. SNOW'S BEND AND THE MOUNDVILLE CHIEFDOM

Snow's Bend is a Late Moundville II and Moundville III (AD 1300-1520) platform mound, village, and cemetery site in the northern reaches of the Moundville chiefdom. Snow's Bend served as one of the several single-mound subsidiary centers of Moundville communities during the Late Moundville II period (1300-1400) and the Moundville III period (1400-1520) (see Welch 1991, 1998). Understanding Snow's Bend and its relationship to the Moundville chiefdom over time requires contextualizing the role of social landscapes in its history. During the onset of the Mississippian Period in the Black Warrior River Valley of Central Alabama, these settlements played a vital role in the emergence of Moundville's social landscape beginning circa AD 1000. At Moundville, the population altered the immediate landscape creating a large, multi-mound ceremonial site enclosed in a palisade. However, Moundville's influence extended well beyond its palisade. The Moundville chiefdom grew its power and influence far and wide, utilizing various trade and exchange networks throughout the Eastern Woodlands. Moreover, as communities at Moundville began to move away from the center around AD 1300, the settlement of the valley took on new importance as communities reconfigured pre-existing settlements and created new mound-centers and non-mound settlements along the riverside. In this chapter, I provide a history of the Moundville Chiefdom, emphasizing sites in the hinterlands, and conclude with a review of Snow's Bend. The following timelines are divided into phases from Steponaitis and Scarry (2016) (Figure 2).



Figure 2. Moundville ceramic phases (Steponaitis and Scarry 2016:12).

MAKING MISSISSIPPIAN COMMUNITIES

Before unpacking the history of the Moundville Chiefdom and its associated settlements, it is helpful to address the following question: what makes a Mississippian community? This requires explicitly addressing notions of how archaeologists define "community," a topic I address in further detail in the following chapter, and what defines a Mississippian community. While the issue is broad, I focus on Mississippian *spaces*, or the creation and maintenance of architecture and spatial organization.

Rogers (1995:7) argued for an approach that defines Mississippian communities through households, or a "coresidential group" that occupies an "enclosed space." Rogers foregrounded an entire edited volume with this definition (Rogers and Smith 1995), that Pluckhahn (2010:336) critiqued for its functionalist, behavioralist, and evolutionary arguments. Instead, archaeologists now envision Mississippian households and communities as the loci of daily negotiations of social, political, religious, and economic practices (Watts Malouchos and Betzenhauser 2021a). Brennan (2021) defines Mississippian communities as social entities that emerge through practice, are promoted through relations that arise from historical experiences, and are reified by daily events and outcomes. In this sense, Mississippian communities were nested, entangled, and best understood through multi-scalar analysis (Brennan 2021; Ingold 1993; Yaeger and Canuto 2000).

The emphasis on architectural organization is a fundamental component of Mississippian towns. However, it is important to acknowledge the greater variations that exist at different scales. Steere (2021) distinguishes among three scales to understand variations in Mississippian architecture: microregional, regional, and macroregional. Microregional trends deal with details including post size and placement, house size and orientation, and size and placement of storage facilities (Steere 2017, 2021). Regional trends lack a formal definition, but would involve variations across an area, such as those defined by Lacquement (2007) for central Alabama. Macroregional trends consider several elements, including changes in shape, size, wall construction methods, segmentation in space, and rebuilding practices (Steere 2021).

From a macroregional perspective, there are several key elements to consider. While plazas and platform mounds predate the Mississippian period (Kassabaum 2019), plazas are relational spaces that are founding features to anchor, animate, and facilitate community activities (Cobb and Butler 2017). Surrounding these public centers are platform mounds that elevate various essential buildings, such as charnel houses, public buildings, porches, palisades, religious structures, or elite residences (Lewis et al. 1998; Lindauer and Blitz 1997). Throughout these spaces, architectural forms such as flexed-pole and rigid-pole houses exist, forming rectangular structures with wattle and daubed walls (Blanton and Gresham 2007; Brennan 2007;

Lacquement 2007) surrounding neighborhoods of households that serve as the loci for daily practice. In some cases, the palisades, or screens around specific structures or areas of a community and town, exist as palisades with gates to enclose an entire space (Lewis et al. 1998). For example, the palisade walls surrounding Moundville during the late 13th century was rebuilt three times, likely lasting a generation.

WEST JEFFERSON (AD 1000–1120) AND MOUNDVILLE I (AD 1120–1250)

During the Late Woodland West Jefferson phase (ca. AD 1000-1120), archaeologists characterize Indigenous lifeways in the Black Warrior River Valley by the large riverine settlements with extensive middens and intensifying maize production (Knight and Steponaitis 1998). Maxham (2004) suggests these riverine settlements consisted of single-family sites and nucleated villages during the West Jefferson phase. Bozeman (1982) and Welch (1990) posit that West Jefferson villages in the Black Warrior River Valley were likely small and seasonally occupied. However, it is often difficult to assess the extent of West Jefferson occupations. Many of the large sites could be overlapping small settlements that also contain small areas of later Moundville-related occupations (Hammerstedt 2000; Hammerstedt et al. 2016; Scarry and Scarry 1997).

Technological changes in ceramic manufacturing mark a pivotal transition in local Indigenous history during the West Jefferson phase. Potters in the valley during the West Jefferson phase produced grog-tempered ceramics, which shell-tempered pots eventually replaced during the Moundville I phase (AD 1120-1250) (Steponaitis 1980). West Jefferson ceramic manufacturing practices likely extend into the Moundville I phase, given the cooccurrence of both types of material culture at Moundville (Knight 2010; Knight and Steponaitis

1998). Changes in ceramic manufacturing might suggest that the start of shell-tempering for ceramic manufacturing is a nonlocal introduction, marking the peripheralization of West Jefferson peoples (Blitz and Lorenz 2002; Jackson 2004; Jenkins 2003). However, the suggested nonlocal origins of Mississippian developments in the Black Warrior River Valley lack substantive evidence, and archaeologists should be careful not to use ceramics as a proxy for people.

Concurrent with the transformations in material culture that mark Mississippian beginnings in the Black Warrior Valley, earthen platform monuments began at Moundville with two small mounds during the early Moundville I phase (Blitz 2016; Knight and Steponaitis 1998; Steponaitis 1992). The construction of these monuments follows the emergence of changing social and political institutions that supported Moundville's growth. Population trends also changed in the valley as communities abandoned West Jefferson villages. At the same time, the population grew at Moundville. Population growth is evident from the widespread distribution of early Moundville I architecture, which is a style that combines elements of West Jefferson sunken floors and Mississippian wall trench construction (Blitz 2016; Lacquement 2007; Wilson 2008).

As monumental construction efforts at Moundville increased during the late Moundville I phase, ca. AD 1200, groups also began to construct monumental earthen platforms elsewhere in the valley. For instance, near Snow's Bend in the northern reaches of Moundville's countryside, people built Hog's Pen Mound (1TU56), which was occupied from the late Moundville I and early Moundville II phases (ca. AD 1200 to AD 1300) (Jackson et al. 2016; Maxham 2000, 2004; Myer 2002; Welch 1998).

MOUNDVILLE II (AD 1250–1400)

During the late Moundville I and early Moundville II phases (ca. AD 1200 -1300), the communities in the region began to consolidate at Moundville and modified and leveled the terrace, creating a large, 23 ha plaza (Lacquement 2009, 2020). The creation of the plaza atop earlier living spaces counters the dominant archaeological narrative that plazas mark a founding event for a town (Cobb and Butler 2017; Lewis and Stout 1998). At Moundville, Lacquement (2020) argues plaza modification might mark the establishment of Moundville's collective identity (Lacquement 2020). The establishment of this identity shown through spatial modification emerged alongside increased uniformity of ceramic manufacturing (Steponaitis 1980). The implications of this event to settlements in the surrounding valley are unclear. However, people abandoned older mounds at Moundville, like 1TU50, while also demolishing Mound X (Blitz 2016), and eventually built at least 29 mounds enclosed within a palisade during this phase (Knight and Steponaitis 1988).

After the construction of the plaza, people built at least 29 mounds organized in pairs carefully around the plaza. Knight (1998) argues that this organization is a sociogram—a visual representation of the relational networks that compose the social organization within the chiefdom. Archaeologists still debate what the organization of mounds represent, whether they relate to ranked kin (Knight 2016; Wilson 2008, 2010; Wilson et al. 2010), temporarily coalesced town chiefs, possibly from the single-mound centers (Blitz 1999, 2008; Knight 2016), or religious sodalities (Byers 2013). A common thread through these different scenarios is that archaeologists place great importance on the creation and maintenance of earthen monuments. Yet, it is not clear how these understandings correspond with the concurrent construction and subsequent maintenance of mound-centers in the hinterlands.

Communities in the hinterlands of the valley built new mound sites outside of Moundville, including Jones Ferry, Poellnitz, and Hog Pen during the Moundville II phase (Welch 1998). Archaeologists suggest these single-mound sites were administrative nodes that facilitated social and economic activities, and community beyond the household (Hammerstedt 2000; Hammerstedt et al. 2016; Maxham 2004; Myer 2002), with minor off-mound habitation with fewer than a dozen dwellings (Welch 1991). Shortly after AD 1300, communities vacated Moundville's ceremonial center and expanded these settlements. There are at least three possible reasons for this population movement. In one view, rapid population growth might have contributed to an exhaustion of resources such as wood, which is suggested through the decrease in post size in late architecture (Lacquement 2007). In another view, the removal of the palisade walls might suggest a lessened nearby threat (Knight and Steponaitis 1998; Scarry 1993; Steponaitis 2007). Alternatively, the movement of people away from Moundville might be an act of symbolic distance (Knight 2016; Porth 2017). Regardless, the out-migration resulted in an increasing population in the valley. At this time, people at Moundville reconfigured former communal living spaces as cemeteries (Wilson et al. 2010).

During the late Moundville II phase (ca. AD 1200-1300), those who moved from Moundville began to establish new settlements. During this period, communities in the valley built new single-mound sites while ultimately abandoning Hog Pen and Jones Ferry. These new mound centers included Snow's Bend, Fosters Landing, Cook, Tousons Lake, and Gray's Landing (Hammerstedt and Myer 2001; Myer 2002; Welch 1998). The shifting focus from regional consolidation to increasing settlement around single-mound sites marked a dramatic shift in the valley. People created new homes in the hinterlands. For example, Bozeman (1982)

argues that the construction of the Snow's Bend mound marks a shift in a local focus of social, political, and religious activities from the Hog's Pen Mound.

MOUNDVILLE III (AD 1400–1520)

By AD 1400, people were dispersed throughout in the Black Warrior River Valley. Many groups continued to live at the single-mound centers that emerged during the late Moundville II period. Communities also built new mounds in the region, such as White, Stephens Bluff, and Minter Creek (Hayward et al. 1995; Welch 1998). Rees (2001) suggests the organization of single-mound centers during the Moundville II phase might indicate the development of central locations that elite from Moundville used to integrate communities. However, this view seemingly changed by AD 1400, during the outmigration from Moundville, and changing settlement patterns either represented attempts to utilize single-mound centers as the means to serve the increasingly decentralized population, or an attempt for communities to distance themselves from the elite (Rees 2001). These sites contained mostly small villages around the mound. The White site exemplifies this, as artifacts generally clustered in the area around the base of the mound (Welch 1991). Foster's Landing, for example, provides contrasting evidence, suggesting the site is a large, reoccupied village, as artifacts and structural features extend several hundred meters from the mound to the edge of the riverside terrace (Rees 2001). At Moundville, people continued to live on several of the mounds. However, by this time, people used former living spaces to bury their ancestors (Wilson 2010; Wilson et al. 2010).

During this time, mound construction practices began to change. Those building the monuments began to construct terraced platforms on the mound summits at several of the mounds at Moundville (B, E, P) and in the hinterlands at sites such as White and Minter Creek

(Porth 2017). Porth (2017:291) questions whether this marks a change in the meaning of mounds, acknowledging that some monuments appeared this way throughout their history. While a notable feature of these later mounds, terraces, or secondary mounds on the summit (Benchley 1974) might originate during the construction of late Moundville II centers. For example, this practice appears throughout the construction history at Snow's Bend (Filoromo et al. 2022; Plattner et al. 2022). Regardless, terraced mounds are common during the Moundville III phase.

While many people in the hinterlands returned to Moundville to bury their ancestors, groups also began to use new cemeteries at Snow's Bend and White, which were the first burials outside the Moundville's immediate center (DeJarnette and Peebles 1970; Welch 1991). Rees (2001) suggests that since Snow's Bend and White are much further separated from Moundville than other single-mound centers, this change might have emerged because of proximity.

The development of single-mound centers, particularly during the movement from Moundville to the countryside beginning circa AD 1300, marked a pivotal social movement in the region. However, the subsidiary single-mound centers and associated villages such as Snow's Bend are little understood. There are contrasting views on the settlement patterns associated with these centers. On one hand, Welch (1998) argues that single-mound centers and villages supported a densely nucleated population that continued to grow over time. In contrast, Hammerstedt (2000) suggests that single-mound centers supported dispersed clusters of farmsteads, where the mounds merely provided a nearby means to engage with religious or political activities (Hammerstedt et al. 2016; Myer 2002). In the latter view, mound centers support a loosely aggregated, but dispersed population (Hammerstedt 2000; Maxham 2000, 2004; Myer 2002).

MOUNDVILLE IV (AD 1520–1690)

The population in the Black Warrior Valley decreased over time, into the Moundville IV phase (AD 1520-1690). Settlement patterns continued to change, where people mostly moved away from the mound centers to live in other nucleated towns. The exception to this pattern are Hills Gin Landing and Fosters Landing, both single-mound centers that supported continued occupation (Curren 1984; Rees 2001). At Moundville, evidence for occupation is largely restricted to several mounds near the riverside terrace (Knight and Steponaitis 1998). Moreover, there is an overall halt in mound-building, and burial practices changed as people interred their ancestors in burial urns at cemeteries in the valley (Curren 1984; Knight 2010).

As for the decrease in population during the Moundville IV phase, there are various interpretations that vary between internal and external pressures. Hernando de Soto's entrada traveled through west-central Alabama during the late fall and winter of AD 1540. Some archaeologists suggest the entrada traveled through the Black Warrior River Valley, encountering Moundville and its surrounding towns along the way (Curren 1984; Hudson 1997; Hudson et al. 1990b; Little and Curren 1990, 1995; Peebles 1986). Smith (1987) and Curren (1984) attribute decreasing population to the introduction of epidemic diseases such as smallpox. However, the results of these encounters vary. The structural violence introduced by Europeans, particularly in the wake of the Battle of Mabila in central Alabama, left many Indigenous communities vulnerable to disease (Hudson 1997). But other factors such as suffering from physical and mental trauma and nutritional stress might also explain demographic changes (Jones 2015).

During this period, communities living in the Black Warrior Valley may have also dealt with internal stressors that predated European intervention. For example, there may have been a

loss of soil productivity (Schoeninger and Schurr 1998), thus contributing to internal stress from food insecurity. Moreover, political and economic instability could originate during the critical transitional period of outmigration in the 15th century (Anderson 1994; Blitz 1999; Peebles 1987; Rees 2001). The decentralization of economic networks might correspond with the apparent changes in settlement patterns (Bozeman 1982:307). Therefore, the reasons for the continued movement and dispersal of communities in the Black Warrior Valley are complicated, requiring further research.

During the Moundville IV phase, historical records from Spanish accounts might provide descriptions of the region. A report by Rodrigo Rangel might suggest the Black Warrior River Valley region is the district of Apafalaya, consisting of smaller villages around a principal town of the same name (Hudson et al. 1990a; Oviedo y Valdés 1993; Shuck-Hall 2009). Based on distance calculations from historical accounts, Hudson (1997) identifies Snow's Bend as the principal town of Apafalaya. If Snow's Bend is Apafalaya, Shuck-Hall (2009) argues for some form of political centralization, as Chief Apafalaya would have overseen an abundance of goods and the fortified nuclear settlements in the Black Warrior Valley. Meaning, Snow's Bend was the center of administrative power in the region. Ethridge (2010) characterizes Apafalaya as a simple chiefdom run by a mico, or an elite leader. The brief account of Apafalaya in de Soto-era accounts provides little in the way of site-specific details about the community or its built environment. Yet, at the regional scale, such political centralization at Snow's Bend might suggest it supported a considerable nucleated population. Given how the Rangel account describes these small vacant corridors between towns in the Black Warrior Valley, settlement patterns around the river then consisted of nucleated towns (Oviedo y Valdés 1993). However, if Hernando de Soto's entrada visited Snow's Bend, the Spanish encountered Moundville III sites

rather than the Moundville IV sites suggested by the current regional chronology, which is more or less supported by the transitional ceramics from Moundville III emigration along the Alabama River (see Dumas and Knight 2021; Regnier 2014).

PREVIOUS INVESTIGATIONS AT SNOW'S BEND

Previous archaeological investigations at Snow's Bend occurred during two periods: initial identification by the Alabama Museum of Natural History (AMNH) (1930-1932), and the University of Michigan Museum of Anthropology (UMMA) (1979) survey. Archaeologists at the Alabama Museum of Natural History excavated portions of the Snow's Bend cemetery in 1930 and 1932 to delineate the extent of the Moundville chiefdom's influence (University News 1932). Additional research at Snow's Bend continued in the late 1970s, with the UMMA conducting a systematic surface collection of a 0.96-ha portion of the site adjacent to the cemetery. These UMMA investigations included brief excavations at the mound, including a 1-x-2-m test unit at the base, a 1-x-1-m unit on the summit, and two 1-m wide profiles on the summit (Bozeman 1982; Welch 1998). While this research focuses on off-mound occupations between the mound and cemetery, continued geophysical research has provided a detailed look at the mound (Filoromo et al. 2022; Plattner et al. 2021). In the following sections, I synthesize and contextualize the history of archaeological investigations at Snow's Bend, organized around the two sites, the cemetery and village (1TU2) and the platform mound (1TU3).

Snow's Bend Cemetery and Village (1TU2)

Early investigations at Snow's Bend focused on the riverside include cemetery excavations in 1930 and 1932, two test units on the mound (DeJarnette and Peebles 1970), and

controlled surface collections of an associated village area in 1979 (Bozeman 1982). It is not clear from the reporting of the 1930 and 1932 excavations the exact location of the cemetery and mound excavations. Locating the cemetery is especially difficult, as nearly 2 ha of surface area has eroded on the river-side terraces since the 1930s cemetery excavation, based on differences in aerial imagery from 1938. Using drawings from a field journal, it is possible to locate the approximate survey area from the 1979 investigations (Welch 1979). I have identified the location of these features based on the available data and present these locations in Figure 3.



Figure 3. Areas of previous investigation at Snow's Bend Village (1TU2) with overlay of the path of the Black Warrior River (blue) in 1938 based on historic aerial photographs.

Investigations in the cemetery provided the initial diagnostic evidence that the site dates to the Late Moundville II and Moundville III periods. Chronologically specific ceramic styles,

including Carthage Incised var. *Carthage*, Moundville Engraved var. *UID*, and ceramic features, including beaded rims, effigy forms, and simple base subglobular bottles, among others, help confirm this date range. The presence of varying motifs that date the site to Late Moundville II and Moundville III include the winged serpent, paired tails, and the hand and eye designs in cemetery ceramics (Bozeman 1982; DeJarnette and Peebles 1970).

Through the systematic surface survey of a 0.96-hectare area of the village adjacent to the cemetery along the riverbank, Bozeman (1982) identified both West Jefferson and Moundville components. The presence of Carthage var. *Carthage* ceramics supports the Moundville III dates. Among the collections from the surface survey, there is a considerable amount of West Jefferson (AD 1000-1120) ceramics (n = 436) compared to Moundville phase ceramics (n = 314) (Figure 4).



Figure 4. Bozeman's (1982) contour maps for ceramics with updated georeferencing. Contour interval = 10 grams.

Beyond the distribution of ceramics, surface collections in the village area include architectural daub—a key feature of Mississippian construction practices. Based on Bozeman's (1982:109) contour maps of the distribution of architectural daub fragments, three discrete clusters in the surface collection potentially relate to village architecture (Figure 5). These clusters of architectural daub might be the remnants of the three Mississippian houses impacted by historic plowing. The presence of daub is significant given knowledge of how Moundville architectural practices change over time. As construction practice changed during the Moundville I phase, locals began to utilize local clays for their walls. By the Moundville III period, many used a large amount of clay (Lacquement 2007). Remnants of clay, called "daub," are distinct evidence for Moundville construction practices at Snow's Bend. Therefore, the abundance of daub in the village area provides significant evidence for architecture. Moreover, the three clusters of daub fit within an overall distinct area that likely relates to an individual neighborhood at the site. While grog-tempered ceramics do appear within the same area, the overlap of shell-tempered ceramics further corroborates that the surface concentrations of daub correspond with a former Mississippian residential area.



Figure 5. Daub contour map from Bozeman (1982) with updated georeferencing. Contour interval = 5 grams.

Snow's Bend Mound (1TU3)

During the earliest investigations at Snow's Bend, the research team led by Walter Jones, William Halton, and David DeJarnette identified the large platform mound 600 meters away from the cemetery (DeJarnette and Peebles 1970). However, the early investigations at the mound are unclear due to missing records. During subsequent research in the 1970s, the UMMA team returned to the mound and excavated two test units and two profiles in a bulldozed road cut on the summit (Bozeman 1982). Snow's Bend mound measures 4-m tall, 42 x 42 m at the base and 26 x 27 m at the summit. Ceramics from the upper mound fill date to the Moundville III period, consistent with the ceramics found in the village and cemetery (Bozeman 1982). The earliest investigations suggest that people built the mound no earlier than the Late Moundville II period. In a test unit at the base of the mound in the late 1970s, archaeologists encountered a large 30 cm wide individually set post-mold extending 107 to 140 cm below the surface (Bozeman 1982). This post-mold, along with the concentrations of daub identified during the systematic surface survey, provides the only Mississippian architectural evidence at Snow's Bend from these early investigations.

During the mound investigation in 1979, the UMMA research team attempted to recover a radiocarbon sample to clarify the occupation of the mound. The research team recovered charcoal samples from the late-stage fill during the mound excavations and reported a ¹⁴C date of "AD 1050," though this date was dismissed as too early (Bozeman 1982:95). Recalibrating the date using the OxCal 4.4 program (Bronk Ramsey 2021) with the IntCal20 Calibration Curve (Reimer et al. 2020) provides a date range of cal AD 970-1270, at the 2σ range (Table 1). While this predates the expected occupation period based on ceramic diagnostics, the date does extend into the early Moundville II phase. Therefore, this date is not entirely unreasonable since the local community likely began mound construction around this period or slightly later. Although, mound fill often contains materials that predate construction.

Table 1. Snow's Bend radiocarbon date from Knight et al (1999) and Welch (1998:141, table 7.1), calibrated in OxCal 4.4 with IntCal20 calibration curve

Canbi aleu Kange
(cal AD 95%)
AD 900-920 (1.2%)
AD 970-1270 (94.3%)
(

Given the limited archaeological research of the mound, several colleagues and I recently conducted geophysical investigations of the mound to explore the site's construction history and architectural organization. During this work, our goal was to examine a profile of the mound to identify construction phases and map any potential geophysical features on the summit. Based on our observations, we identified two construction phases. Moreover, we observed continuity in the use of summit space, as we identified two structures on top of another, each associated with both construction phases (Filoromo et al. 2022; Plattner et al. 2021). Therefore, the calibrated ¹⁴C date suggests the local community likely built the mound during the Late Moundville II period, with old carbonized material incorporated into the fill of the late stage, Moundville III, construction.

Snow's Bend in Context

Snow's Bend is crucial to understanding the Moundville Chiefdom for several reasons. First, it might contain some of the earliest evidence for terraced mound construction outside of Moundville, which is a practice common during later phases. Second, it is one of the two sites where there are late cemeteries. Lastly, it might be an important site of political centralization during the Spanish encounters with the region. Were residents not supporting political authority? Is the connection between the mound, the domestic spaces, and the cemetery even clear, or could the cemetery exist in isolation from a mound-base settlement? Using geophysical and remote sensing techniques, I will address this question by identifying the presence, absence, or lack of structures from the mound and cemetery. If Hammerstedt's (2000) settlement model is accurate, the geophysical and remote sensing data should either validate or refute a farmstead cluster organization at Snow's Bend.

CHAPTER SUMMARY

Throughout this chapter, I provided a brief review of how archaeologists define Mississippian communities while also providing a history of Moundville communities over time to help contextualize Snow's Bend in time and space. Archaeologists mark the emergence of Mississippian communities over time and across space by the remarkable changes in public architecture and spatial organization, among many other forms. The Mississippian period is distinct in how communities built new public works, as shown through landscape modification for plaza construction, platform earthen mounds, and new housing styles. While these changes throughout the Southeastern US vary over time, Mississippian towns are unique. They consist of special public planning efforts, including public and private plazas, platform mounds, and courtyards, among other features.

During the Mississippian beginnings in the Black Warrior River Valley, the local communities began constructing mounds and modifying the landscape. This act made Moundville a focal point for the new pluralistic communities coalesced at the ceremonial

grounds. Through these acts of landscape construction and modification and changes in the use and manufacturing of other material culture, residents asserted a new collective identity (Lacquement 2020; Steponaitis 2009). At the same time, communities residing in the valley began building single-mound centers. Archaeologists interpret these single-mound centers as intermediary nodes in administrative networks for the Moundville chiefdom. However, by AD 1300, major population movements occurred as communities reorganized into the surrounding valley, concurrent with the construction of new single-mound centers (Knight and Steponaitis 1998). Regardless of the notable movement of people throughout the Black Warrior River Valley, single-mound centers are focal points to understanding changes in the Moundville chiefdom's social landscapes over time and across space.

Throughout the history of the Moundville chiefdom, Snow's Bend has been an important place. From the West Jefferson period through the reorganization into the countryside, Indigenous populations lived at and used the site for centuries. While archaeological investigations are sparse, researchers have identified several key features, including a Moundville III cemetery, a village occupation with West Jefferson and Moundville phase material culture, and a platform mound. With contrasting notions of settlement patterns, where single-mound sites such as Snow's Bend support loosely aggregated neighborhoods (Hammerstedt 2000), or where Moundville III mound centers contain nucleated communities (Welch 1998), it is clear these sites are complicated. Therefore, their histories should be investigated, not assumed.

CHAPTER 3. CONSTRUCTING LANDSCAPES AND COMMUNITIES

Archaeologists identify the construction and maintenance of Moundville's single mound centers as the means to provide communal access to social, religious, or political activity without directly traveling to the ceremonial center (Hammerstedt et al. 2016; Maxham 2004; Myer 2002). Moreover, throughout the Black Warrior River Valley, changes in ceramic manufacturing and landscape modification during the Mississippian period contributed to a physical expression of emergent collective identity. These developments contribute to the emergence of an imagined community (sensu Anderson 2016). However, focusing on this imagined form of communal identity does little to elucidate the actions of face-to-face communities who regularly interact with one another. To provide greater nuance to the construction and maintenance of face-to-face communities, such as those who presumably lived at Snow's Bend, it is helpful to assess how people actively altered their surroundings through the placement features such as architecture and middens. More specifically, physical alterations to landscapes are often visible in geophysical data; therefore, geophysical surveys can facilitate the investigations of community organization. In this chapter, I outline my theoretical approach to this research. I begin by discussing archaeological and anthropological perspectives on both local and imagined communities and provide a working definition that mediates both perspectives.
DEFINING COMMUNITY

Broadly defined, communities represent the intersection between "place, people, and premise" (Watanabe 1992:16). This definition emphasizes that communities continuously emerge as a product of personal or communal pursuits. The ever-emergent nature of communities as a social institution both structures and is structured beyond household interactions organized within a specific place and time (Yaeger and Canuto 2000:5). Because of this, Yaeger and Canuto (2000) argue that archaeological research can reveal *instances* of communities. However, rather than their snapshots in time, the evaluation of the relationships that define archaeological assemblages on multiple scales can contribute to a synchronic and diachronic view regarding the daily practices where individuals develop shared social understandings that can contribute to the reformation of identity (Yaeger and Canuto 2000) and collective actions (Blitz 2016). Yet the relationship between community and identity is complicated. Communities always consist of multiple identities (e.g., social groups, ethnic groups), and the identity of a community might not fully articulate the multidimensional nature of identity within communities (Isbell 2000; Lightfoot 2006; Roosens 1994; Yaeger and Canuto 2000). According to this line of thinking, a community is merely an instance of an experiential landscape defined by the embodied experiences of those who live within it. It could fit within a neat bound; however, communities crosscut social networks.

A community can index a shared space, experience, or understanding (Isbell 2000). However, the dynamic, cross-cutting nature of social boundaries problematizes the physical bounds of a community. Instead, defined as an imagined community, a community is not constrained by the physical bounds of space. People construct imagined communities from their social networks and shared experiences (Anderson 2016; Isbell 2000) from which one can

discern a wide range of multi-scalar practice. By focusing on imagined forms of community, this de-emphasizes and complicates local practices, such as construction and spatial organization. However, it is crucial to envision archaeological materials such as buildings and landscapes as the precondition, place, and product of social reproductions of habitus across space (sensu Richard 2018; Soja 2010:129). Face-to-face communities are certainly not divorced from the larger social spheres (in this case, the imagined community), and individual reproductions of social structure depend on the persistence of behavior over time. Architecture promotes persistent activities by providing a context for social action, while also validating social practices (Ryan 2008; Sewell 1992). Moreover, architectural organization can reify a broader collective identity, exemplified by a larger sense of sameness within an immediate landscape (Brubaker and Cooper 2000; Ryan 2008).

Archaeologists are only left with a minimal glimpse into the social realities of past peoples. The relationships between different individuals and social groups accumulate as plural social landscapes that reflect socially constructed communities. Archaeologists seeking to reconstruct past communities often grapple between the immediate local community and the "imaginary" community that supersedes face-to-face interaction. Before reviewing these forms of communities, it is important to underscore that the approach in this study contends that the appropriateness of either community form reconstructed is merely a matter of scale, data, and the scope of one's research question. The archaeological correlates for reconstructing different communities vary. Communities are nested, and the local, face-to-face community may exist within another form of an imaginary community.

In one view, the community is made of face-to-face, coresidential association with regular interaction and serves as a source of focus for social identity maintenance (Murdock

1949; Murdock and Wilson 1972). Such criteria do not suffer from the strictures of economic, political, or social caps related to socio-cultural development (i.e., group size is not restrictive) (Murdock and Wilson 1972). Conceptualizing the community based on regular coresidential face-to-face interaction is the first definition that formally acknowledges the structured, repetitive nature of group structures that emerge from social practice. However, limiting communities to face-to-face interaction unrealistically restricts the manner in which people create and maintain social networks (Arensberg 1961). Moreover, coresidential communities contain elements of imagined communities, particularly as people migrate and become incorporated in other towns (Pluckhahn et al. 2018).

As a counterpoint to local communities, anthropologists increasingly recognize that faceto-face interaction is not fully necessary for understanding the way groups create or maintain themselves (e.g., Anderson 2016; Arensberg 1961; Isbell 2000). Communities in the "imaginary" sense at one point can reflect the network of interactions among different social groupings but often exist as a sense of understanding among peoples that do not regularly interact with each other (Anderson 2016). For instance, members of the same community can share different forms of self-understanding, either tied to place, cultural practice, politics, or religion. Such communities are maintained through the dissemination of information, such as shown in Anderson's (2016) use of the newspaper as the medium of facilitating social understanding.

Archaeologies of communities illustrate how complex assemblages of material culture relate to past social organization. Kolb and Snead (1997) contend that social reproduction, selfidentification, and subsistence production should form the basis in which one examines the local, coresidential community (Kolb and Snead 1997). Such an approach is overtly functionalist and succumbs to the pitfalls of structural-functionalist orientations in community studies where

creation and maintenance are virtually ignored. The socially constructed community exists as an institution that structures social practice and emerges through the modification of such interactions, thus placing greater emphasis on daily interaction (Yaeger and Canuto 2000:5-6). Another approach that aligns well with the "imagined" community appear when archaeologists attempt to reconstruct cognitive schemas through the use of symbolic material culture, be it from architecture to pottery (Isbell 2000).

The dichotomy between both the local and the imagined community is not straightforward. An imagined community's reliance on communication mediums as the loci of disseminating information presents something problematic for archaeology. What archaeological materials are appropriate and what is the historicity of such materials for serving as those referential objects? Material culture ranging from pottery to architecture can often communicate certain messages in contextually specific situations (e.g., Marshall 2008; Preucel 2006; Preucel and Bauer 2001), yet communities are far more complex, composed of interwoven neighborhoods with social networks forming communities nested at multiple scales. For instance, Yaeger (2000) demonstrates how the three levels of communities in the Classic Maya countryside, the local, the polity, and the elite interlock with each other. Local community practices reflected local elite political economic structures the elite (Yaeger 2000). Over time, the continuous reproduction of social practices in the local community contributed to the practices of affiliation that wove together the local community with the greater socio-political system.

DAILY PRACTICE

Practice theory (Bourdieu 1977, 1990) and structuration (Giddens 1984) serve as the theoretical foundation for this study. Architecture reflects a group's shared habitus in that it requires knowledge of what a house is and should be (Rapoport 1969). Therefore, the reproduction of certain architectural elements can reveal greater understandings of social organization at multiple scales. Both practice and structuration highlight the relationship between agency and social structure, specifically emphasizing the power in even the most mundane daily practices. Individuals are not merely cogs in a wheel reacting to external change, but rather they play a pivotal role in the formation and perpetuation of social practices (Dornan 2002).

The foundations of practice lies in "anything people do," and significant practices appear with intentional and unintentional political implications (Ortner 1984:149-154). People reproduce social practice in the repetition of their behaviors, essentially re-endorsing the social structures that shape their organizational principles. The concept of habitus helps provide the context for understanding the social interactions that occur in the context of practice theory. Habitus is an individual's unconscious disposition ingrained through their social lives and serves a central role in the reproduction of social structure (Bourdieu 1977, 1990, 2013). People accumulate these life experiences that contribute to the construction of habitus, all of which may stem from aspects of their lived experience be it through class, politics, etc. (Bourdieu 1990). Such dispositions condition how individuals perceive and act within their world, thus contributing to how they structure and are structured by social systems.

Structuration accounts the way people reproduce and transform social structures. People can enact change in this dialectical system is the guiding principle behind structuration. An uncritical use of practice theory can result in defining habitus through external forces, therefore

structuration provides a vital component for understanding individual agency (Dornan 2002). Human creativity and innovation are always capable of being incorporated into social systems. It is critical to understand though that this does not account for intentionality, but rather capability (Giddens 1984). People can continuously reproduce forms, such as architectural construction, through habitual practice, with the concept remaining unquestioned, yet people contain the capability to subvert the overarching social structure.

Doxa generally refers the unquestioned, unacknowledged presumably shared landscape of given views that inform social interactions and discourse (Bourdieu 1990, 2013). While structuration explicitly only accounts for a person's capability to act out complex motivations, doxa refers to unintentional practices (see Giddens 1984:8). Silliman (2001) contrasts doxa with the concept of practical politics, questioning whether practices can truly be unintentional. In this concept, he is referring to the intentional actions beyond the realm of doxic practices that shape social interaction. Smith (2001) is also critical of doxa. Doxa's limitation being that individuals exercising agency need to recognize their obstacles. But, Smith (2001) aptly argues that these limitations are the product of complex sets of continuously emerging practices, not pre-existing conditions. Practical politics play out in daily life, for example, in how people cope with tumultuous conditions. However, Silliman (2001) also notes that while some practices exhibit doxic qualities, he understands that acts of residence can be an intentional act of resistance (Silliman 2001). Indeed, in another example, acts of residence and construction can be vital for identity construction and expressing belonging (Melly 2017; Pauketat and Alt 2005). Potentially, practical politics could have played an important role for how communities organized in the wake of community outmigration into Moundville's hinterlands during the 15th century. The

emphasis of either places daily life and practice in a central role, as daily practice can play out in either doxic or practical political actions.

A focus on practice can reveal several important social dynamics. Here, it is possible to view how public architecture can influence certain forms of behavior based on people's collective understanding. With this in mind, some suggest the construction of certain monuments or much smaller features, like hearths, can also shape behavior and influence bodily dispositions as people move through spaces (see Nelson 2014; Peeples 2018; Watts Malouchos and Betzenhauser 2021b). Pauketat and Alt (2005) show how the act of constructing domestic architecture in Cahokia's foundation became an integral part to forming social identities. Postsettings become an extension of culture-making in a turbulent period of negotiation and contestation (Pauketat and Alt 2005). Construction also serves as an act of making claims to space and cultivating a sense of belonging. Architecture need not to just consist of a lived space, either. When taken in broader cultural context, architecture references a multitude of contesting attitudes about identity, belonging, and agency (Melly 2017). The social nature of spaces demonstrates the need to critically evaluate whether material culture, both large and small, may signal certain forms of social understandings. Understanding how different aspects of the material world shape and constrain behavior are important for discerning how individuals interact within the world, which in turn contributes to self-understanding.

It is important to recognize the fluidity of identity, in that it is situationally constructed within varying social frames of reference (Cohen 1994; Goffman 1959). Such ideas about identity make the correlation to community problematic. Communities are socially constructed (Anderson 2016; Cohen 1985). Shared understandings of one's identity may contribute to community membership. However, not all community members will share similar ideas about

what constitutes their community. A strong approach to community studies emerges when scholars seek to understand the patterns that inform social practices through the creation and maintenance culture (Bourdieu 1977, 1990; Giddens 1984). Research grounded in practice theory recognizes the forms of identity that constitute parts of the socially constructed community, while also emphasizing the role in spatial organization and material culture as a reflection of the structured interactions of socio-cultural reproduction.

CONSTRUCTING SPACE, CONSTRUCTING LANDSCAPES

Landscapes contain a multitude of socially constructed spaces in which individuals enact daily practices, exert agency, and engage with both the human and nonhuman world. The consideration that space is the product of social activities extends from the philosophical underpinnings of Lefebvre (1991) and earlier work by Erving Goffman (1959, 1986). Lefebvre repositions space as a complex socially constructed product of human activity that influences how people understand certain spatial practices or perceive their immediate surroundings. To reiterate previous concerns in how archaeological interpretations may belie reality and implicate peoples in an unrecognizable past, I wish to emphasize one key point in space that problematizes the interpretation of landscape: the manner in which people reference and understand space is contingent upon a variety of historical and contemporary factors that weave together human and nonhuman agency, linguistic relativity, and materiality. Landscapes are constantly reconfigured and never complete, with meanings that may change depending on perceptions of space and place (sensu Ingold 1993; Richard 2018).

The differential understandings of a landscape underscore that landscapes contain contested or negotiated spaces. Governments and wealthy elite often attempt to alter a landscape

to influence certain actions as they manufacture specific kinds of spaces that subject others to their hegemony (Wolf 1982). Additionally, shared identities and worldview not only comprise these spaces, but the space itself is often crafted from the cleaving of power and politics (Melly 2017; Richard 2018). In an archaeological example, the creation of space from power and politics could, in some instances, relate to the construction of earthen mound monuments. Indigenous communities imbued these monuments with a variety of meanings, uses, and functions (Kassabaum 2021). In some instances, some contend that platform mounds provide elevated space for religious specialists (Byers 2013), while others suggest mounds as accentuating social distinction in ceremonial precincts (Lindauer and Blitz 1997). In another view, groups construct and manipulate platform mounds to communicate long-standing impressions through daily interaction (Brennan 2021). While platform mounds provide an example of these negotiated spaces, the diversity of meaning found in this brief review underline the need for investigating the relationship between social meaning and architecture, rather than being presumed.

Viewing landscapes and spaces as the product of human activities often relegates the role of the nonhuman to an inferior rank. Invoking the concept of "terroir," Richard (2018) traces how the Seerer project social relations through space, as demonstrated not just through human activity but through qualities of geographic identity expressed from a multitude of factors. Ecology, weather patterns, agricultural systems, and farming technologies all contribute to terroir. However, other invisible agencies play an important role. Landscapes can be mercurial, and the role of invisible agencies demonstrated through cultural understandings of those who have passed on and other spirits can dictate how one perceives or interacts with certain spaces (Richard 2018). In Richard's work, particularly for the Siin, the nexus of livelihood and

landscape cannot be understood without acknowledging the role of the nonhuman. Granted, this is culturally specific to groups living in Senegal. The role nonhuman agents play in one's understanding of landscape contribute to complex understandings of an animistic ontology that is deeply embedded in sociocultural and historical circumstances of the culture in question (e.g., Nielsen et al. 2017).

Beyond the complex constructions of space and landscape contingent upon human and nonhuman agency, and referential practices, landscapes and spaces become a palimpsest, the product of the accretion of history. To extend "referential practices" archaeologically, physical structures such as homes, mounds, and other public works, movement between structures, and other landscape features are this locus of engagement. I view space, people, land, and spatial practices as bound together into assemblages continuously created and remade from society. Richard (2018) argues these "recombinant assemblages" are what compose the landscape. Differential change occurs throughout the landscape, often leading spaces to inhabit several historical situations at once. It becomes clear that landscapes are always under construction, and that the issue of landscapes being palimpsests is unavoidable. However, with a clear understanding of socio-spatial practices and their change over time, it becomes possible to trace relations of people with the landscape over space and time. It is possible to integrate geophysical prospection with anthropological knowledge and reconstruct a landscape and the communities within that space.

INTEGRATING THEORY AND METHOD

Practice-based approaches to archaeological research provide the means to identify daily practices and their relationships within greater social activities that produce those patterns.

Understanding daily practices in the archaeological record helps demonstrate how space is structured. Evidence of architectural planning, placement of refuse deposits, and more all contribute independent lines of evidence of the organizational principles by which individuals and groups structure their lives (Lightfoot et al. 1998). Spatial organization in the household and the broader social landscape can serve as a reflection of the broader habitus of society. However, Bourdieu argues that it distorts reality to reduce these lines of evidence to universal rules (Bourdieu 1990; Moore 2019). While these rules are not necessarily universal, Bourdieu's study demonstrates how social practice, and the broader cultural world influences the nature in which men and women act within the household and landscape. For instance, the organization of space indexes different cultural and gender-specific attitudes towards different activities (Bourdieu 1990). Similar concepts appear within archaeological research focused on the social construction of communities.

Comprehensive spatial data covering wide areas, such as through geophysical surveys, supports practice-based archaeologies as they present how past groups organize their communities, while subsequently allowing for the exploration of interactions amongst and within neighborhoods, households, and more (Blair 2013). Moreover, the nondestructive and minimally invasive nature of geophysics provide ethical ways in which fieldwork can be conducted to provide data of the past (see Spivey-Faulkner 2021). Geophysical surveys provide a unique lens for which one can utilize these methods within ethical archaeology.

Archaeological geophysics is moving beyond just the mere recognition of "anomalies." Geophysical applications hold the potential to provide information about large areas, rather than through excavation which merely provides limited glimpses into the past through test units. Of course, a strong link between archaeological geophysics and anthropological inquiry lies in

thorough understanding of archaeological literature and the limitations of geophysical techniques. For instance, if one were to examine whether or not structural changes occur at a site during political reorganization, specifically looking at architectural organization, shallow geophysics offer one path in which such hypotheses are testable (Thompson et al. 2011:197). Thompson et al. (2011:198) outline three basic categories through which archaeological geophysics can support anthropological research: (1) variation in construction throughout the built environment, (2) discerning the continuity or discontinuity in how individuals use space, and (3) natural or cultural landscape modifications. Each is well-aligned, and geophysics has proven to be an effective method for collecting such data.

By integrating archaeological geophysics with the intersections of community and identity the methods then provide more than a method for prospection (see Skousen and Friberg 2021 for overview). Friberg et al. (2021) utilized magnetic gradiometers to survey sites associated with a turbulent period of social upheaval in Cahokia's countryside, looking at architectural organization. In their study, extensive survey work revealed the construction of Mississippian spaces indicates the central role religion played in orienting communities. Another study in the Yazoo Basin of Mississippi using a magnetic gradiometer identified several discrete residential group clusters (Nelson 2014). Data revealed how architectural organization, through the placement of homes, courtyards, and the plaza, facilitated how individuals move throughout and interact with others within the community. Moreover, Nelson (2014) suggests that the spatial organization of the community materializes social distance through the reconfiguration of their homes away from the mound. By shifting focus towards the pathways between the built environment, it is possible to understand how movement facilitates certain forms of social interaction (Wernke 2019; Wernke et al. 2017). Space constrains and enables social practice—

the spatial organization of material remains need not only contribute to understanding components of community (i.e., neighborhoods). Rather, particularly through the lens of social practice, political negotiation, and community organization, considering space as interwoven with movement and material remains (Wernke 2013, 2019; Wernke et al. 2017) allows geophysical data to be used for a range of anthropological purposes. Architectural organization provides one line of evidence to better understand how people embody social reality within a spatial context.

While integrating geophysics with social theory, I hope to provide a deeper understanding of landscape use, and thereby community identities, in the Moundville III period by examining architectural organization and refuse patterns. Specifically, I use geophysics to investigate how Indigenous groups organized Moundville's greater landscape to test the singlemound center model, such as Snow's Bend, in which the mound serves as the loci of sociopolitical activities with loosely aggregated hamlets surrounding it (Hammerstedt 2000). Given the capabilities of integrated geophysical datasets in mapping architectural features and refuse pits, among other features, this study can both test this settlement model while subsequently providing a comprehensive map of a Moundville III (1400-1520 CE) community. Geophysical investigations can aid in discerning how architectural organization r social understanding and movement through the community.

CHAPTER 4. METHODS

At the end of the previous chapter, I outlined the suitability of shallow geophysics for anthropological research. In this chapter, I discuss the shallow geophysical methods I use to evaluate the spatial organization of archaeological features at Snow's Bend. Specifically, I describe my use of electrical resistance mapping to identify lateral changes in subsurface resistance and magnetic gradiometry to locate magnetic anomalies. I also outline my research design, processing techniques, and integration methodology. Multi-method geophysics illustrate the need for an integrated approach, as various techniques measure very different subsurface properties in different ways (Kvamme 2003b, 2007b, 2017).

The geophysical methods I use in this survey evaluate different physical properties of the earth. Generally speaking, electrical resistance mapping is a way to evaluate spatial changes in the electrical resistance beneath the subsurface. The depth of investigation is limited by electrode configuration on the mobile platform. Alternatively, magnetometry is a passive technique that detects subtle changes in the magnetic properties of the Earth's magnetic field. When combined, it is possible to investigate archaeological features that are sensitive to either technique.

The survey area in Snow's Bend village was organized into 31 30-m-x-30-m grids that total an area of 25,560 m², or 2.56 ha hectares. The survey area was chosen to avoid the lower lying area in the field that are generally wet or flooded, and to extend along an elevated ridge between wooded areas. The gridded area is visible in Figure 6. Each grid corner was placed using an EMLID Reach RS+ RTK GPS system.





ELECTRICAL RESISTANCE

Lateral changes in the resistivity of soils aid archaeologist in identifying subsurface anthropogenic features such as ditches, pits, foundations, and hearths. Electrical resistance is a common technique in archaeological prospection, as it maps lateral changes in resistance values across a surface indicating the presence of both natural and anthropogenic anomalies. Resistance results depend on several key factors including soil structure, moisture, and salinity. These factors determine both how the flow of electrical current moves throughout the subsurface and the contrast between different resistive features. In this section, I review the basic principles of electrical resistivity that are important for a successful archaeological survey and outline the methods I used. As a note, resistance is proportional, but not equal to resistivity. But to understand resistance surveying, I must refer to the principles of electrical resistivity.

Electrical resistivity primarily concerns the movement of electrical current through a material measured in amperes (amps, or *I*). Amperes, or amps, refer the amount of electrical charge that passes through a circuit in a single second. To allow for the flow of the charge, potential difference (p.d.) is needed. Most often electrical current is proportionate to potential difference. This proportion is Ohm's Law, where voltage divided by amps results in resistance (*R*), measured in ohms. However, resistance depends on the property, or geometry of the material transmitting the current, in contrast to resistivity (*p*) which characterizes the physical property of a material independent of its geometry, measured in ohm-m (Binley and Slater 2020; Milsom and Eriksen 2011; Mussett and Khan 2000; Oswin 2009). Given the basic tenets outlined here, soil structure is important in resistance surveying, as is the presence of groundwater given its ability to facilitate the movement of electrical current through the subsurface.

In resistance mapping, the grain size and porous space between the grain, and the availability of groundwater determine values across a lateral surface. Different materials have different resistivity ranges. However, these ranges vary depending on climatic conditions and the availability of groundwater and its subsequent salinity. Thus, depending on changes in groundwater, salinity, and the structure of different soil types, many materials can have overlapping resistivity ranges, especially in tropical environments where sea water has high

NaCl values (Mussett and Khan 2000). In some cases temperature can effect resistance and resistivity but usually these changes are unimportant (see Mussett and Khan 2000; Schmidt 2009). Groundwater is particularly important given that dry conditions make detecting lateral variations problematic as only certain ores and graphite's are natural conductors.

Resistivity variations in the subsurface are measured using electrodes inserted into the ground. In archaeological resistance surveying, most often technicians use two current electrodes that introduce a current and two potential electrodes that measure local potential difference. When moving potential electrodes along a traverse, equipment such as a resistance meter measure lateral variation in resistance values. Often these mobile electrodes are attached to a frame. When inserting the electrodes into the ground, it is important understand that some materials are anisotropic—the axes of measurement from the electrodes are affected by the direction in which materials are measured. Schists, slates, and shales are prime examples (Mussett and Khan 2000). However, the depth of penetration where such subsurface deposits are detectable depends primarily on the array used and spacing of electrodes. Different arrays provide results depending on the probe spacing which can be changed to increase depth of penetration at the cost of resolution. Only 30% of the electrical current emitted from the electrodes penetrates beneath the depth equal to the separation of the mobile electrodes. Thus, 0.5-meter electrode spacing provides images of the surface around the same distance between the electrodes. These arrays are covered elsewhere (see Milsom and Eriksen 2011; Mussett and Khan 2000), and provide different benefits depending on the analysis one seeks to perform.

Resistance mapping provides important insights in surveying archaeological sites. Kvamme (2003b) utilized resistance mapping alongside a gradiometer survey at four prehistoric and historic sites in the Great Plains with some great success. With different array configurations

providing imagery for features as small as a half-meter in diameter, resistivity methods helped archaeologists define features such as an intervillage trail system, overlapping house foundations and even a potential compact second village (Kvamme 2003b). However, differences in soil compaction and decreased resolution when target depth increased concurrent with probe spacing problematized the prospection of potential archaeological features. Thus, using resistance alongside other geophysical and remote sensing methods that detect different subsurface properties builds a more holistic composite of the archaeological subsurface.

Electrical Resistance Survey Design

To map the lateral variation in electrical resistance in the village, I used a Geoscan RM15D resistance meter, with an MPX15 multiplexer on a PA5 frame connected to two remote probes. I used a multiplexed parallel twin array to map the subsurface up to a half-meter in depth. The multiplexed parallel twin array includes two remote probes and three mobile electrodes, each spaced a half meter apart on the mobile frame to detect archaeological anomalies in the subsurface up to around a half meter beneath the topsoil. Data were collected in 31 30x30 meter grids with zig-zag traverses. In several areas, it was not possible to reach the full extent of the grid; therefore, the total survey area is approximately 2.56 ha. All data were imported into Archaeofusion for processing, and then georeferenced using ArcMap.

MAGNETIC GRADIOMETRY

Magnetometry is a common method in contemporary archaeological geophysical surveying. Magnetometry measures magnetism in the in the subsoil, mapping different anomalies that either relate to natural or anthropogenic processes. This technique is a passive form of geophysics that measures changes in the Earth's magnetic field. Here, I briefly outline potential sources of magnetic anomalies, followed by an outline of the technique used in this survey.

Evaluating magnetic features requires understanding differences in the source and physical properties of subsurface anomalies. While changes in the magnetic field can be from both natural and cultural activities, remanent magnetism and magnetic susceptibility describe these materials. Remanent magnetism refers to the permanent magnetic properties of the subsurface and other geological bodies. whereas magnetic susceptibility relates to the ability for material to be magnetized by an external field. Magnetic anomalies can be the product of remnant magnetism in natural material deposits or soils, magnetically enriched topsoil (due to weathering and biogenic processes), and natural fires (Kvamme 2006c). Natural sources of magnetic variation might result from microbial mediation or magnetically enriched bacteria. Microbes and bacteria in rich organic deposits may often alter weak magnetic iron oxides. Other natural sources where iron content in the soil alters the magnetic susceptibility of the subsurface largely depends on pedogenesis, or the soil formation processes (Aspinall et al. 2008; Schmidt 2009). Cultural activities can impact the magnetic properties of the surrounding soil, particularly through hearths, pits and ditches, and fired construction materials. These features are dipoles. However, in some cases archaeologically significant features appear as monopoles. Monopoles do not exist. Rather, features such as small hearths and small pits appear monopolar as the negative halo surrounding the feature is below the limit of detection (Aspinall et al. 2008:71). In general, depending on the features one is looking for, they will need to have contrasting magnetic susceptibility greater than other surrounding materials and their remanent magnetism (Aspinall et al. 2008; Cajigas 2017; Kvamme 2003a; Weymouth 1986).

Different instrumentation provides different sensitivities, and the scale of archaeological geophysics requires looking for subsurface remains at a smaller scale than geological anomalies. The resolution of the resulting data generally depends on the samples per meter and transect separation. Magnetometers can record variation in the magnetic field up to a meter below surface (sometimes deeper). Common field instruments include fluxgate, cesium vapor, alkali-vapor, and proton precession magnetometers and gradiometers (Aspinall et al. 2008; Kvamme 2006c; Mahar 2010; Silliman et al. 2000). In this survey, I used a fluxgate magnetic gradiometer. Fluxgate gradiometers consist of two fluxgate magnetometers, and the difference in measurements between the two magnetometers produces the vertical gradient in the magnetic field (Aspinall et al. 2008; Kvamme 2006c). Measuring the gradient corrects for diurnal variation, whereas other total field systems account for diurnal variation in different ways.

Geophysical studies on Mississippian sites in the American Southeast increasingly use magnetometry with great success. Using sources of knowledge such as architecture and spatial organization, archaeologists are able to produce detailed geophysical maps to identify the built environments of settlements (e.g., Birch 2016; Blair 2015; Davis et al. 2015; Friberg et al. 2021; King et al. 2021; King et al. 2011; Patch et al. 2017; Spivey-Faulkner 2021; Thompson et al. 2016; Watts Malouchos et al. 2021). Magnetometry also provides a method that can help identify levelled mounds (Green et al. 2021). Archaeologists at Moundville have also utilized magnetometry to identify mound summit architecture (Porth 2011, 2017), and the spatial organization of architecture around the plaza (Davis 2014; Davis et al. 2015).

Magnetic Gradiometer Survey Design

Most of the magnetic data in this study were collected by Christina Friberg, Elliot Blair, and Claiborne Sea in the winter of 2019 using a Bartington 601-2 fluxgate gradiometer. This survey totaled in 29 grids. To capture the additional grids, I also used a Bartington 601-2 Fluxgate Gradiometer. In total, the magnetic data consists of a total of 31 grids that comprise the same 2.56 ha area of the electrical resistance survey. Data were collected with a resolution of 0.1 nT and with a 0.125-m sample interval with 50 cm transect separation. All collected data was downloaded using Barrington's Grad601 software and raw files were imported into ArchaeoFusion for processing and georeferencing in ArcMap 10.8.1.

DATA PROCESSING, INTEGRATION, AND ANALYSIS

Following data download, all data were processed in ArchaeoFusion. For electrical electrical resistance data, all grids were despiked, and then edge-matched and balanced. Magnetic gradiometry data was also processed in ArchaeoFusion. The zero-mean traverse tool was used to normalize the data, then a 1D fourier filter was used to attempt to remove plow scars. Before this, I examined the unprocessed data for features of interest and subsequently removed the range below which it is not possible to statistically distinguish features from noise introduced from the site's underlying geology and sensor or operator error. I determined the appropriate range to remove to be -2.5 and +2.5 nT. While this may eliminate potential archaeological features, this is a more replicable, consistent, and objective approach than purely standard graphical inspection (Green et al. 2021). All data, once processed, was georeferenced over a LiDAR basemap of the site in ArcMap 10.8.1.

When using geophysical and remote sensing data to map archaeological sites, there are several different methods for how one can integrate data sets to analyze for anthropogenic features, such as automated vectorization, manual vectorization, K-means cluster analysis, and translucent overlays (Boles and McCullough 2018; Ernenwein 2009; Green et al. 2021; Kvamme 2006a, 2006b, 2007b; Kvamme et al. 2019). Vectorization is the process of tracing anthropogenic anomalies from a continuous geophysical raster dataset to discrete points, lines, and areas that correspond with potential archaeological features (Kvamme 2007a). Integrating datasets aids in correlating different features and their subsequent distribution across the site. To integrate these data, I use a combination of both automated and manual vectorization for magnetic data, and K-means cluster analysis for electrical resistance. The remainder of this section will outline these integration methods.

For magnetometry data, I utilize a combination of approaches to identify potential features. Since magnetic anomalies can include a range of features, including burnt structures, hearths, pits, and middens, it is important identify the range of their associated magnetic properties (Aspinall et al. 2008). Background noise from the operator, sensors, or natural magnetic properties can obscure low-magnitude results. Therefore, I follow Green et al. (2021), who eliminated low magnitude anomalies to isolate areas of positive and negative magnetism to identify potential archaeological features. Using the isolated anomalies, I then vectorized data in ArcMap 10.8.1 (Kvamme 2006a, 2006b, 2007b). There are several ways to represent these data. Conger and Birch (2019) and Birch (2016) identified Iroquoian longhouses by locating linear hearths (dipolar) and pits (monopolar positive). Similarly, Boles and McCullough (2018) traced potential features, specifically separating those such as monopolar positive pits. At Moundville, Davis et al. (2015) adopts a similar approach, using a classification system to strictly define

structures. Here, I use a combination of these approaches after isolating anomalies to define all features at Snow's Bend. With the magnetic data, I use several classifications. I distinguish between metallic scatter and non-metallic dipoles, and use "pseudo-monopole (monopolar positive)" to describe the small positive features that appear monopolar.

For electrical resistance data, after processing I transformed the data using K-means cluster analysis. Following Kvamme (2006b); Kvamme et al. (2019), and Ernenwein (2009), I use K-means cluster analysis in ArchaeoFusion, using 6 classifications, (k=6), to reduce data to identify anomalies. In this survey, K-means cluster analysis is a form of unsupervised classification to define natural groupings in large bodies of continuous data (Ernenwein 2009; Kvamme 2006b). In simple terms, this method uses an algorithm to find natural clusters of features from a continuous set of data. Generally, the continuous set of measurements is subject to algorithms that define the best solution for dividing the data in a set number of categories, "best" being determined by the minimizing of the total sum-squared error (SSE). Essentially the SSE measures the distance of each value from its category's mean and sums these squared distances across all measurements, helping to determine how natural these clusters are. Unfortunately, ArchaeoFusion does not provide these calculations within the software, therefore the classification I use here, where k = 6, is arbitrary, determined largely by the visibility of specific features in the raw data. In exploring the data, 6 classifications were useful in explaining variation in electrical resistance at the site. While difficult to interpret, comparing the results to the raw data show the location of subtle high and low resistance features. Following these methods, I overlaid the vectorized magnetic data on both the processed electrical resistance data and the "reduced" K-Means cluster electrical resistance data to explore the relationships between different features.

Lastly, Kvamme (2006a; 2007) points out that the use of the 'interpretive' data integration and analysis approach requires expertise in local archaeology and knowledge of how features appear in geophysical datasets. Thus, I primarily draw from Lacquement (2007), Knight (2010), and Steere (2017, 2021), to define Mississippian features. Knowledge of both regional and Mississippian archaeology provides robust background knowledge that aid in addressing the aims of this proposed research as the distribution of features across the site will reflect the nature of its occupation.

CHAPTER 5. RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

Given the diversity of population dynamics over time and across space in the Moundville chiefdom, social landscapes play a fundamental role in understanding the social and political histories. Following Blair (2015:56), who adapts Cusick's (1995) community-study approach to identify neighborhoods at Mission Santa Catalina de Guale in Georgia, the integration of the data presented in this chapter reveals the community that lived at Snow's Bend. In this chapter, I compile the results of the geophysical surveys to show the Indigenous landscape at Snow's Bend. Using both archaeological literature and historical sources, I then contextualize these features within both intra- and inter-site organizations. Compiling all these varying sources makes it possible to distinguish different archaeological and geological features appearing in other sources. Therefore, it is possible to identify the spatial organization of the landscapes of lived spaces at Snow's Bend.

MAGNETOMETRY SURVEY

The magnetic gradiometry survey provides an expansive map that relate to anthropogenic features. The base results of the magnetometry survey are presented in Figure 7. Following Green et al. (2021), I eliminated background noise associated with sensor or operator error, or soil-related anomalies (Figure 8). After this process, I used several classifications, including dipoles (non-metallic), pseudo-monopoles (monopolar positive), and metallic scatter (Figure 9), with enhanced visuals for both the North (Figure 10), and South village areas (Figure 11).



Figure 7. Processed magnetic gradiometer results.



Figure 8. Magnetic gradiometer results after eliminating background noise.



Figure 9. Interpretive map of magnetic gradiometer results.



Figure 10. Interpretive map of magnetic gradiometer results for the North Village.



Figure 11. Interpretive map of magnetic gradiometer results for the South Village.

The magnetic anomalies at Snow's Bend include a range of likely findings, such as potential burnt architecture, hearths, and middens. As previously stated, the identification of magnetic anomalies requires familiarity with the potential features one might find and their associated magnetic properties (Aspinall et al. 2008; Kvamme 2006a, 2006c). In the interpretive maps, the metallic scatter is drawn as a contiguous area characterized by negative magnetism that surrounded positive magnetic features above 15 nT. They are drawn contiguous because of the proximity of similar features, and because during the electrical resistance survey, I regularly encountered tin roofing debris that was covered by overgrown grass. Moreover, I provide the 'feature' category to show areas that are characterized by intense magnetic noise

In the interpretive map of magnetic anomalies, I primarily outline the metallic scatter, pseudo-monopoles (monopolar positive) anomalies, non-metallic dipolar anomalies, and the organization of non-metallic positive anomalies within large dipolar area (Figure 9). Several of the non-metallic dipolar anomalies provide values like those expected for burnt clay architecture and hearths (see Birch 2016; Blair 2015; Conger and Birch 2019; Davis et al. 2015; Hammerstedt et al. 2017; Lockhart 2010). Moreover, positive monopolar anomalies often correspond with potential pits and architecture (see Blair 2015; Boles and McCullough 2018; Green et al. 2021; Lockhart 2010). Throughout the site, there are a combination of circular and amorphous pseudo-monopoler (monopolar positive) features that might indicate the presence of dozens of pits. In the North Village, there is an abundance of metallic scatter organized in a uniform manner, as well as several clusters of rectangular pseudo-monopole (monopolar positive) features (Figure 10). Additionally, a unique non-metallic dipolar anomaly with positive linear features appears in the North village, immediately abutted by a wide linear positive anomaly. In the South Village, there is very little metallic scatter, and an abundance of pseudo-

monopoles, however, there are two areas of nonmetallic dipolar anomalies that include several clusters of rectangular positive features, likely remnants of former architecture (Figure 11). Psuedo-monopoles (monopolar positive) and non-metallic dipolar anomalies cluster on the north end towards the riverside and in the previously identified village area and the south towards the mound.

RESISTANCE SURVEY

Through surveying Snow's Bend, resistance mapping provides a valuable look at how electrical resistance to the subsurface relates to archaeological features. The base results of the electrical resistance survey are presented in Figure 12. The processed electrical resistance data provides detailed imagery of broad changes across the survey area. Potential impacts to changes in electrical resistance can include cultural features, such as structures, ditches, roads, pathways, and middens. However, considering the agricultural history of the farm, plow scarring and the historic orchard can impact the ability to discern cultural features. To identify different features, I followed data integration procedures outlined by Kvamme (2003a, 2006b) and transformed the data in ArchaeoFusion using K-Means with 6 classifications (k=6) to show variations in resistance (Figure 13). The K-Means analysis helps identify noticeable cultural features, such as the rectangular low resistance and linear high resistance features in the North Village (Figure 14). Electrical resistance in the South Village provides the greatest range, and the K-Means cluster analysis further confirms noticeable contrasting features throughout the area (Figure 15).



Figure 12. Electrical resistance survey results.



Figure 13. K-means results for electrical resistance survey, k=6.



Figure 14. K-means results for electrical resistance survey in the North Village, k=6.

In the North Village, there is a rectangular feature that is characterized by low resistance like that of Mississippian architecture, while there is also a linear high resistance feature that is likely a road (Figure 14). Variations in resistance likely resemble larger landscape trends. However, several circular features that are low resistance in the raw data are likely middens.



Figure 15. K-means results for electrical resistance survey in South Village, k=6.

In the South Village, there is more variation in electrical resistance (Figure 15). Like the North Village, circular low resistance anomalies are likely middens. However, in the southernmost area, the linear and circular arrangement of non-metallic dipolar features identified in the magnetic data (Figure 7, 8, 11) appear as low resistance features. Therefore, beyond the natural variation in soil resistance, there are several potential archaeological anomalies. Integrating the resistance and magnetic data can provide further clarity.
INTEGRATION

The basic goal of geophysical survey is to provide graphical representations that combine data to identify anthropogenic features (Kvamme 2003a, 2006a, 2006b, 2007b; Kvamme et al. 2019). Historic agricultural activities can impact the ability to distinguish cultural features (see Green et al. 2021; Patch et al. 2017). To remove these features, primarily the plow scars that appear with low magnetism (ranging between -2.5 nT and +2.5 nT), I followed Green et al. (2021). However, rather than removing noise from metallic scatter, I consider these part of a historical archaeological site. Moreover, the integration of the magnetic and electrical resistance data present a more holistic perspective on the organization of archaeological features. The ability to detect features such as architecture vary between different geophysical methods, based on underlying geology and how each method measures different physical properties (Lockhart 2010). As the electrical resistance data shows larger scale variation, I integrate the vectorized magnetic data with both the electrical resistance data and the K-means cluster (k = 6) of electrical resistance data. To provide a closer look at the results of these integrated data, I provide a side by side comparison of magnetic features over electrical resistance and the Kmeans cluster electrical resistance data for the North Village and South Village (Figure 16, 17). Using these data, I trace the relationships between different features to define potential Mississippian architectural features, organized in three areas throughout the site (Figure 18, 19, 20, 21, 22). In the magnetic data, Mississippian architectural features at Snow's Bend generally have positive ranges from 4 nT to 8 nT. In areas where there are nonmetallic dipolar architectural features, these range from as low as 4 nT, but generally 8 nT to 15 nT. Psuedo-monopoles (monopolar positive), interpreted as potential pits, generally have weaker signatures and range

from 2.5 nT to 4 nT. Lastly, the metallic scatters are generally characaterized by positive spikes over 15 nT with negative magnetism.



Figure 16. Comparison of interpretive magnetic anomalies in North Village over (A) electrical resistance, and (B) k-means electrical resistance, k=6.



Figure 17. Comparison of interpretive magnetic anomalies in South Village over (A) electrical resistance, and (B) k-means electrical resistance, k=6.

Few of the magnetic anomalies of interest correspond with a stark change in resistance. In the North Village, there are subtle variations; however, only one rectangular low resistance features appear, and corresponds with a similar arrangement of positive magnetic anomalies (Figure 16). In the South Village, there is greater range in resistance, and several areas of low resistance, particularly towards the southern end, appear to correspond with other large magnetic anomalies (Figure 17). There are three areas of archaeological interest (Figure 18). Moreover, the North Village overlaps with a portion of previous surface collection (Figure 19, 20).



Figure 18. Primary areas of archaeological interest outlined over magnetic features and defined potential Mississippian architecture.



Figure 19. Interpretive map of the North Village, showing potential Mississippian architectural features.

As previously mentioned, the electrical resistance magnetic data overlap in a rectangular feature in the northernmost portion of the North Village (Feature 1, Figure 19). Throughout the magnetic data, there are a series of pseudo-monopoles (monopolar positive) that form rectangular features that potentially correspond with former architecture. Again, this is speculative, yet these areas overlap with dense concentrations of architectural daub and ceramics identified during the UMMA survey in 1979 (Figure 20). While these clusters primarily overlap with grog-tempered pottery, a ceramic indicative of West Jefferson and Moundville I ceramic traditions (Knight 2010), these should not be read as direct correlations. Given the history of agricultural disturbance, the UMMA collected materials that had only made it to the surface. Moreover, rather than marking the exact location of each artifact, surveyors cluster together objects at 20-m by 20-m intervals (Welch 1979). Moreover, while these materials are neatly clustered in the survey area, Bozeman (1982) relegates the earlier Moundville I occupations to a very minor status. Considering the concentrations of daub are a primary indicator of former architecture, particularly during the later Moundville phases, it is highly probable the structures identified in the survey are Mississippian. The area of non-metallic dipolar anomalies with a positive linear feature also corresponds with an area of low resistance, a correlation that might indicate architectural debris or middens. Again, the North Village is difficult to interpret, but the features may represent a burnt, collapsed, palisade, or heavily disturbed cluster of architectural features.



Figure 20. Interpretive map of the North Village, showing how features align with distributions of (A) Grog-tempered pottery, (B) Shell-tempered pottery, and (C) Architectural daub from the UMMA survey

Separating the North Village and the Orchard is an area that is "quiet" in the geophysical data. Few small positive monopolar features exist in this quiet area, and there is little variation in resistance. In the Orchard, there is another cluster of potential architectural features organized within a cluster of non-metallic dipolar anomalies and an area of low resistance (Figure 21). Throughout this area there are large zones of high resistance that are generally absent of pseudo-monopoles (monopolar positive) and non-metallic dipolar anomalies. Moreover, this area overlaps with a former pecan orchard that was in use for several decades, further complicating the identification of different electrical or magnetic anomalies. Regardless, the features outlined here form a small neighborhood that generally exhibits similar magnetic properties as those in the North Village. This area is generally disturbed, and the removal of the orchard in the 1970s likely presents another issue to consider in interpreting this data. Further research can clarify and correctly identify these anomalies.



Figure 21. Interpretive map of the Orchard, showing potential Mississippian structures.

Lastly, in the South Village, there is a cluster of large non-metallic dipolar anomalies and a linear non-metallic dipolar feature over areas of low resistance. Both areas of which are likely remnants of a burnt, collapsed screen or blind and structures (Figure 22). The potential features in this area are the closest to the platform mound. Like the Orchard, heavy scarring appears in the electrical resistance data from historic agricultural activities, thus problematizing interpretation. The structures perhaps provide the clearest evidence for organization. However, it is notable to point out that these features vary in size and have no discernable original shape. With this in mind, these are similar to ephemeral low-magnitude positive structures associated with mound-building at Spiro (Hammerstedt et al. 2017), and might represent burnt structures associated with mound construction.



Figure 22. Interpretive map of the South Village, in the South Village, showing potential Mississippian structures.

DISCUSSION

Through linking archaeological geophysics with anthropological concepts, Thompson et al. (2011) argue for an "inquiry-based geophysics," in that the these methods appropriately address one's research questions. Addressing anthropological questions with shallow geophysics (e.g., Kvamme 2003a; Thomas 1987:64-67), I use an "inquiry-based" approach to understand community-making and maintenance at Snow's Bend. To briefly reiterate, there are four goals to this study:

- 1. Determine the size, extent, and organization of Snow's Bend.
- 2. Evaluate how potential features reveal the immediate social landscape.
- 3. Assess how results align with expected settlement patterns for Moundville.

4. Contextualize Snow's Bend within Moundville's social landscape.

Identifying Mississippian Settlement at Snow's Bend

While geophysical methods provide powerful tools to evaluate archaeological landscapes, their results are a palimpsest where archaeological features from different periods often overlap. Therefore, to identify the Mississippian settlement at Snow's Bend, it is necessary to consider what constitutes a Mississippian town. Therefore, to address the size, extent, and organization of Snow's Bend, it is essential to evaluate the various features evident in the geophysical results.

Considering how Mississippian communities created and maintained spaces, vital features beyond the mound and plaza generally include residential architecture. It would not be easy to identify the specific use of particular structures without ground-truthing. However, additional features that would appear in geophysical data would include large scale architecture such as palisade walls, or screens (Lewis et al. 1998; Lindauer and Blitz 1997). Additionally, there is variety in architecture as both flexed-pole and rigid-pole houses exist—both of which would form rectangular houses made of wattle and daub (Blanton and Gresham 2007; Brennan 2007; Lacquement 2007). New architectural forms in the Mississippian period generally include wall-trenched architecture, where builders dug linear trenches and placed new walls. While there is immense regional variation in architectural practice (Boudreaux et al. 2021; Brennan 2007; Lacquement 2007; Lewis et al. 1998; Lockhart 2010; Wesson 1998), such features are readily evident in geophysical data.

The natural and the built environment provide a critical dimension to understanding how people shape, experience, and understand community (Basso 1996; Bloch 2020; TallBear 2015; Watts Malouchos and Betzenhauser 2021b). The act of construction—as seen through the

building or maintenance of a house, among other features—can be a vital way to understand how people express and understand belonging. Earlier, I suggested that the concepts of doxa or practical politics may offer a meaningful way to understand community development in the wake of Moundville's outmigration (Silliman 2001). Certainly, mortuary practices and architecture may exhibit doxic practices, where, at a variety of scales, daily routines go unquestioned. Silliman (2001) questions whether practices can genuinely be unquestioned—viewing acts of residence as an act of resistance. Yet, the act of residence can also contain political implications for acts of belonging (Melly 2017). However, restricting interpretations to the physical architecture of living spaces creates an obstacle in understanding the creation and maintenance of Mississippian spaces.

The built environment also provides an essential context to explore movement and pathways. Therefore, shifting focus from individual structures, to their relationships to another provide a way to explore how architecture enables and constrains certain forms of movement and interaction (Nelson 2014; Wernke 2019). However, depending on the focal point of daily paths how people move throughout certain spaces can shift (Wernke 2012; Wernke and Kohut 2017; Wernke et al. 2017). Yet, the built environment is not the only feature to consider. Watts Malouchos and Betzenhauser (2021b) call for greater attention toward storage facilities and storage pits as an essential feature to understanding the creation of space. The placement of storage, in concert with the rest of the landscape can shape bodily disposition in how people and things move through spaces. Since pits and middens often appear as areas of low electrical resistance (Blair 2015; Lockhart 2010), or pseudo-monopoles (monopolar positive) with positive magnetism (Boles and McCullough 2018), these are ideal features to identify in geophysical data to understand the landscapes and lived experiences of communities in the archaeological record.

While the electrical resistance and magnetic data are problematized by intense scars from the historic use of a chisel plow, the distribution of potential Mississippian architecture extends from the mound to the cemetery in three areas (Figure 18). In the North Village, there are two different ways to view settlement (Figure 19). The pseudo-monopole (monopolar positive) linear anomaly surrounded by an intense non-metallic dipolar scatter with large positive magnetic feature might represent some form of palisade, thus separating the potential architectural features on either side into two distinct neighborhoods. However, this intense scatter might also be heavily disturbed from historic agricultural activities. Indeed, the linear arrangement of metallic scatter are indicative of fencing, and the intense metallic scatter around the extant hunting blind is unsurprising, especially given the regular encounters with tin roofing during the resistance survey. The random non-linear metallic scatters might support the connection between Apafalaya and Snow's Bend. Similar patterns appear de Soto contact sites such as the Glass Site in Georgia (Blanton 2013, 2020). Moreover, similar patterns emerge from identifying repurposed 16th century Spanish metal objects at Stark Farms in the province of Chicasa—the next location following the entradas departure from Apafalaya (Cobb et al. 2021; Legg et al. 2020; Smith 2017). The connection at Snow's Bend is unlikely. At a site across the river from Snow's Bend, an avocational archaeologist identified a twisted Nueva Cadiz that might support the Soto connection (Adkison 1991). Moreover, while DeJarnette and Peebles (1970) do not recount this object, collection inventories at the Office of Archaeological Research include a historic octagonal stock pistol barrel similar to those found in early 19th century contexts. As is the case throughout the site, there are hundreds of small circular and amorphous pseudo-monopole (monopolar positive) magnetic anomalies that are likely storage pits that cluster around these

architectural features. While there is no other discernable temporal or spatial pattern, these suggest a dense population.

The North Village neighborhood(s) is a unique case for interpreting geophysical data. Since a research team conducted a controlled surface collection at the site in 1979, it is possible to evaluate how potential geophysical features correspond with the locations of architectural daub, shell-tempered Moundville ceramics, and grog-tempered West Jefferson ceramics (Figure 20). Architectural daub is perhaps the most significant find here, as this is a unique feature of Mississippian architecture in the region. Early Moundville structures often were undaubed walltrench buildings (Wilson 2008). Daub became a common architectural element during the Moundville II phase and was adapted for use in wall trench architecture. The later individually set post architecture with internal roof supports that appear in the Late Mississippian and Moundville III phase contain large quantities of daub (Gougeon 2007; Lacquement 2007). Bozeman (1982) and Welch (1998), while acknowledging the minor earlier occupation of the site, suggests Snow's Bend as primarily a Moundville III village, based on diagnostic materials from the surface collections and mound excavations. However, the quantities of daub also potentially support the Moundville III dates. Therefore, the North Village neighborhood(s) likely represent more of a 'persistent' place for Snow's Bend, with its primary occupation during the 15th century.

The Orchard neighborhood contains a collection of potential Mississippian structures and significant magnetic anomalies (Figure 21). This area is primarily characterized by the abundance of pseudo-monopoles (monopolar positive) that likely represent pits. The large-scale variations in electrical resistance provide little in the way of readily distinguishable features. However, the pseudo-monopole (monopolar positive) features correspond in this area with areas

of low resistance, thus further showing other potential cultural features. Future work can clarify the nature of archaeological remains in the Orchard. However, given its similarities with the North Village, these remains likely represent the portions of another neighborhood.

Lastly, the southernmost area by the mound in the South Village likely represents a third neighborhood (Figure 22). The South Village is characterized by a circular arrangement if large nonmetallic dipolar anomalies in areas of low resistance, that exhibit characteristics of burnt buildings, as well as a long linear magnetic anomaly and dozens of pseudo-monopoles (monopolar positive) anomalies that are likely pits. These size and nature of these structures are similar to ephemeral structures associated with mound construction at Spiro (Hammerstedt et al. 2017). The long linear anomaly might represent a portion of a palisade or large blind or screen. The organization of the potential burnt structures are unique-if associated with mound construction, their organization suggest that people intentionally organized their dwellings in a semi-circle around some courtyard that opens away from the mound. Given the abundance of architectural daub and late Moundville ceramics at the mound near these structures, these are likely contemporary with the mound in some manner. As for their place in time, Plattner et al. (2022) identified several construction phases in the mound, with architecture occupying the same general space on the summit over time (Filoromo et al. 2022; Plattner et al. 2021). Therefore, these structures could correspond with a wide range in time.

Considering the limited nature of the survey area, it is not entirely possible to determine the size of the Mississippian village at Snow's Bend. However, based on these geophysical results, Snow's Bend likely consists of at least three potential neighborhoods that demonstrate a continuity in space from the mound to the cemetery. The size and organization of these communities is not readily discernable. The abundance of potential pits throughout the site

suggests a sizeable population living at or engaging with space at Snow's Bend, and there is evidence for several houses. Yet, it is not clear if these houses are all contemporaneous with another. Certainly, the maintenance of these structures over time would suggest that the structures are continuously rebuilt within the same physical layout. Such a phenomena would not necessarily be observable in geophysical data, but is not uncommon in Mississippian construction practices (e.g., Nelson 2021). Rebuilding structures in an altered form, which is not uncommon in the Black Warrior Valley (e.g., Wilson 2010) could be identifiable in geophysical data, which I suggest might be evident in the North Village neighborhood. However, few houses do not diminish the importance of the site or if other local communities or additional neighborhoods exist and access the mound or other culturally significant features. For instance, the Grand Village of the Natchez had less than ten houses, yet was a central node to social, religious, and political practices (Brown and Steponaitis 2017).

Mississippian Settlement Patterns in the Black Warrior River Valley

In the Black Warrior River Valley during the Mississippian period, there are contrasting views as to the nature and extent of settlement patterns, especially at single-mound centers. Before Moundville's height, the settlements in the valley contained a majority of the local population (Knight and Steponaitis 1998; Welch 1998). However, Hammerstedt (2000) argues that single-mound centers support loosely based clusters of dwellings, thus suggesting the population is loosely aggregated with no more than a dozen structures. In another view, Welch (1998) indicates that during the population reorganization into the valley during the 14th and 15th centuries, single-mound centers support a nucleated population with dense occupations.

The size, extent, and organization of architectural features and potential pits suggest that the population at Snow's Bend during the Moundville III period is densely occupied. While organized around a minimum of three likely neighborhoods, the dense clusters of potential pits, the extensive daub scatter in the North Village and near the mound, suggest extensive architectural debris (see Filoromo et al. 2022). It is difficult to definitively assess the validity of either view as this survey covers only a portion of the potential village. Without identifying key elements to Mississippian villages, such as the location of the plaza, and the extent of these neighborhoods, it is not readily apparent. Certainly the tight clusters of architecture may support Hammerstedt et al. (2016), where mound centers are the foci of loose clusters of sites. However, the extensive potential pits that extend throughout the survey area certainly warrant further investigation and could suggest an extensive population.

Social Landscapes at Snow's Bend

Shifting scales between households, neighborhoods, and landscapes emphasizes the importance of reconsidering the building blocks for understanding social landscapes. Several decades ago, Rogers and Smith (1995) argued that for understanding Mississippian communities, household archaeology provides an answer. Specifically, Rogers (1995:7) defines Mississippian communities through households and coresidential groups within an enclosed space. While households are essential locations for understanding daily practice, communities are multiscalar, recombinant assemblages that are constantly emerging from the entanglements of human and nonhuman actors (Harris 2014; Pluckhahn et al. 2018; Watts Malouchos 2021; Yaeger and Canuto 2000). More specifically, in Chapter 3, I defined communities as nested, socially constructed institutions that are composed *of* and *through* interwoven social networks, while

emphasizing the built environment as a context for social action. Buildings and landscapes provide the context, precondition, place, and product of social reproductions of habitus across space and over time (Birch 2012; Melly 2017; Richard 2018; Soja 2010). Moreover, architecture promotes persistent social practices as the loci for daily practice (Ryan 2008; Sewell 1992), while also serving as a potential reflection of identity work at varying scales (Brubaker and Cooper 2000; Ryan 2008; Steere 2021). Therefore, spatial organization can provide a unique lens to examine communities and landscapes at Snow's Bend.

The continuity in space from the mound to the cemetery appears in the form of three possible neighborhoods and hundreds of potential pits at Snow's Bend. After reviewing the potential architectural features in the North Village (Figure 19), the neighborhood in the Orchard (Figure 21), and the South Village neighborhood (Figure 22), several architectural trends emerge. Both the North Village and the Orchard contain rectangular to square structures, with several potential instances of rebuilding as well as possible interior partitions. At a macroregional scale, these could be either domestic residences or unique use buildings. While the temporal range of these structures is unclear, square architecture, interior partitions, and rebuilding are common features to Late Mississippian (AD 1350 to 1550) architectural practices (Steere 2021). In the South Village neighborhood (Figure 22), the potential structures have no readily discernable shape. However, they generally appear as circular and ovular structures, an architectural style typical for nondomestic buildings, such as earth lodges, and are common in historic period settlements (Steere 2017, 2021). Considering how these also appear like shortterm residences for mound construction, the South Village presents a unique case. Given the nature of impacts on these potential archaeological features, there is no discernable pattern in each neighborhood. Since these commonalities in architectural practice speak to macroregional

trends, at one scale, these might speak to the more imagined forms of communities, or communities of practice that shape people's understandings of architecture (Anderson 2016). In chapter 3 I asked: what are the appropriate mediums to facilitate imagined communities? Construction practices might represent one aspect, but to do this, future work should evaluate the social meanings behind these practices. However, contextualizing these neighborhoods within their appropriate social landscape, it is helpful to assess identity and social organization.

Archaeologists contextualize their understandings of social organization for Mississippian peoples often through ethnographic descriptions. In doing so, there is a general tendency to position collective identity (although only referred to as "identity" in a broad sense) as town-based rather than clan or corporate-clan based (Scarry and Steponaitis 2016a). More specifically, Urban and Jackson (2004) argue that (historic) towns were autonomous and selfsufficient building blocks for Muskogean social organization. This in part due to how anthropologists understand that residential pattern within a town crosscut familial systems, where different members of social groups co-reside with each other (Ethridge 2003; Galloway and Kidwell 2004). Yet, identity and community are not synonymous with one another. If towns represent collective forms of identity, this reduces the many ways members of these town create and maintain communities at multiple scales and perceive their identity. For example, toponyms can be important signifiers for attributing meaning to space (e.g., Galloway 2006). But that is only one potential scale to understand the more significant social landscape and does little to elucidate the scale present in this study. Despite the pitfalls in that these observations lack collaborations with modern Muskogean nations (Creek, Choctaw, Chickasaw, to name a few), this focus on collective identity and towns as a community can obscure the minutiae of daily realities that define community life. These understandings do require further thought as to what

defines a Mississippian household. Individual structures may not be appropriate. Multihousehold groups, such as those found amongst the historic Chickasaw and Choctaw, may appear at Moundville (Knight 2016; Scarry and Steponaitis 2016a; Wilson 2008). Therefore, multiple dwellings organized around a shared courtyard, for example, might not be the appropriate scale to define a neighborhood.

Viewing architecture as a critical dimension for understanding people's movement, mobility, and other bodily dispositions within a landscape requires seriously considering more than the built environment. Nelson (2014), and Wernke (2013, 2019) observed that the more intimate landscapes amongst communities and towns appear when shifting our focus towards the spaces in between: the paths and private courtyards within neighborhoods. Moreover, it is important to consider storage pits (Kelly et al. 2005; Watts Malouchos and Betzenhauser 2021b). Given the continuity between the mound and cemetery, these three neighborhoods likely regularly interacted with each other moving through the area to engage with different political or religious activities. However, within the neighborhoods, a more intimate scale of interaction might emerge since the structures seemingly cluster close together. Therefore, depending on the perspective from which one examines movement, the scale and intimacy of these spatial networks, pathways, and degree of interaction will change (e.g., Wernke and Kohut 2017; Wernke et al. 2017). In the South Village neighborhood, the smaller potential structures appear in a circle oriented around a private courtyard that opens away from the mound. Small potential pit features exist around these structures. Moreover, the more prominent structures attached to these clusters may be another residence or important private structures for those residing in the group. Elsewhere throughout the site, the clusters of architectural features provide little in the way to understanding specific organizational patterns. In this one instance, orienting activity

away from the mound suggests some form of symbolic distancing similar to that indicated for the end of wall-trench architecture (Rodning 2015; Rodning and Thorpe 2021). Moreover, this act of symbolic distancing might provide another indication of how peoples relationship to space supposedly changed while groups moved from Moundville to the hinterlands. Regardless, the nearby mound was an important site where the community worked to maintain space over time (Filoromo et al. 2022). The intentionality underlying community-making and maintenance at the mound suggest that even if working to distance themselves, the mound was an essential fixture in place-making at the site as a whole.

Moundville's Changing Social Landscape

Neighborhoods within Snow's Bend reflect several small social communities that interact at different scales from the family to the town. However, it is also necessary to shift from internal organization within the site to evaluate Snow's Bend contribution to the larger social landscape of the Moundville chiefdom.

Earlier, I posed interrelated questions that asked how the validity of contrasting settlement patterns and the presence of cemeteries at Snow's Bend (and White), reveal changing conceptions of space in Moundville. The abundance of potential pits, and architecture at the site suggests that during the population shifts into the valley, groups coalesced at single-mound centers. During that same time, the first cemeteries outside of Moundville emerged at Snow's Bend and the White site (Welch 1998). While people moved from Moundville, groups returned, reconfiguring former communal and living spaces as resting places for their ancestors (Wilson 2008, 2010; Wilson et al. 2010). Archaeologists suggest that the population movement during the 14th century marks a large-scale symbolic distancing of groups away from the elite who still

resided at Moundville (Knight 2016; Knight and Steponaitis 1998). If this is so, then might the presence of new cemeteries suggest that the instability of Moundville's political system led communities to distance themselves and operate autonomously (Rees 2001)? Such an idea is suggestive of the fission-fusion process of Mississippian chiefdoms (Blitz 1999), and Scarry and Steponaitis (2016a) argue that the population trends overall are indicative of the emphasis on single-mound centers. Meaning, over time, the creation of new local cemeteries at single-mound centers underscores the emphasis away from Moundville and changing roles of the mounds Moreover, one of the many interpretations of the sociogram of mound arrangements at Moundville is that the mound pairs are the home of temporarily coalesced town chiefs (Knight 2016). Therefore, the emergence of new cemeteries at Snow's Bend and White, especially given their relationship to shifting population dynamics, might index the creation of new or altered smaller political systems.

Since communities exist at multiple scales, there are also general trends that help place Snow's Bend within Moundville's greater community. The reconstruction of structures are evident at both Snow's Bend and at Moundville (see Wilson 2010). Moreover, this is a common practice in the greater Mississippian world, such as at Parchman Place in the Yazoo Basin, where there are up to five former houses stacked atop one another (Nelson 2021). Yaeger (2021) argues this act of citation is a way in which community members reproduce social organization, authority, and the materiality of their lived experiences. However, this act is not restricted to architecture—but also burial practices. The repeated burial of ancestors in the areas where former communal spaces stood are an embodiment of remembrance (Connerton 1989; Wilson 2010), that also demonstrates an act of reproducing former social bonds (Yaeger 2021). However, if archaeologists emphasize that the continuity in space, where residential areas

become resting places, what does that mean for Snow's Bend? Future research can clarify this. Yet, the continuity in space from the mound to the cemetery, and the continuity of temporally diagnostic material culture suggest that for Moundville's more outstanding social landscape, the embodiment of social memory through space might not be uniform.

CHAPTER SUMMARY

In this chapter, I present the results of the magnetic gradiometer and electrical resistance survey, data integration, and discuss these results with reference to my research goals. The goals of this study were to evaluate the intra-site community and spatial organization, and its relationship to settlement patterns and social landscapes in the Black Warrior River Valley. I took a combination of different processing approaches to identify potential archaeological features. Given the nature of historic agricultural activities, it is not easy to discern certain archaeological features in portions of the study area. Combining the results of geophysical data, it was possible to identify three potential residential areas, and many potential pit features that show continuity from the mound to the cemetery. While only a portion of the potential lived landscape was surveyed, Snow's Bend likely supported a nucleated population-like that expected for the Moundville III phase. In identifying three potential neighborhoods, it is also essential to consider the appropriate scale from which we identify familial communities, neighborhoods, and households. Considering how different social understandings might problematize the scales from which we identify 'community,' the organization of residential areas and social landscape of Snow's Bend emphasize the unique, site-specific histories for Moundville's settlements. For understanding the relationships between communities at multiple scales, such as Snow's Bend to the Moundville chiefdom, the top-down focus of such approaches

obscures the unique histories of these towns. Therefore, it is necessary to investigate Moundville's settlements, rather than assume their organization and extent based on limited data sources.

CHAPTER 6. CONCLUSION

During the 14th century, groups from Moundville reorganized into the Black Warrior River Valley, making and subsequently maintaining new towns at single-mound centers through the 16th century. The nature of these movements are not fully understood, and there are contrasting views on settlement patterns, where groups were loosely dispersed (Hammerstedt 2000) or nucleated (Welch 1998) around these mound centers. At Snow's Bend, there is evidence for population nucleation, where residents of the local face-to-face community organized in at least three residential areas. The continuity in space from the mound to the cemetery is important and suggests continuous engagement with the space. This pattern of suggested movement is remarkably different than the spatial dimensions of mortuary practice at Moundville, where people traveled to Moundville to bury their ancestors, rather than in their town. Therefore, the social landscape at different scales shows unique similarities and distinctions from communities of practice at regional and macroregional scales. In this chapter, I outline the limitations and future directions of this work, while ultimately synthesizing this work as a whole.

LIMITATIONS

While survey strategies were consistent across the site, fluctuations in geophysical data, specifically with electrical resistance, can appear due to seasonality. Despite this issue, the archaeological features I identify in this study provide a noticeable contrast in the surrounding environs. Using a combination of approaches, such as Green et al. (2021), Birch (2016); Blair

(2015) and Kvamme (2006b) to identify archaeological features, and information from previous surveys, it was possible to distinguish different Mississippian features on the landscape. Given the clear link between anthropological theory and geophysical data, I am confident that these findings can provide essential perspectives that guide future investigations. However, as I repeated throughout the results and discussion, historic agricultural activities and historic archaeological features obscure portions of the survey area. For example, the overall impact of historic agricultural activities on archaeological deposits is unknown. Therefore, additional features that are recoverable through excavation may clarify other forms of social practice. With additional data, these features obscured by agriculture may be important for understanding the nature of social relationships within communities and within the Moundville chiefdom over time and space.

The three residential areas also present a complicated and occurrence in the Moundville chiefdom. While Hammerstedt (2000) suggests sites in the hinterlands are sparsely populated with distantly spread clusters of farmsteads. The three potential neighborhoods that extend across the 2.56 ha survey area are seemingly only a portion of the village site, and could support this assertation, but the density of pits across the site might suggest another view. Of course, the relationships between different areas over time is not readily apparent. Rees (2001) observed a different pattern at the Moundville III village at Foster's Landing, where there was a large village area extending from the mound towards the river. Moreover, while the exact organization and extent of the site is not fully known, the White site also contain important elements to Mississippian towns, such as a plaza, and the common Late Prehistoric terraced mound summit (Welch 1991). Work at the White site and Foster's Landing add greater nuance to archaeological understandings of Moundville III developments. However, there is still work to be done. The

development of new settlements in the valley during Moundville's outmigration would benefit from further research to clarify this issue. Such work might clarify the nature of autonomy and agency these communities have from the Moundville chiefdom during this critical transition period. Moreover, interpretive bias might obscure archaeological understandings of settlement near the mound. This caveat is made clear in the following sections.

FUTURE DIRECTIONS

There are at least two opportunities for future directions. The following future directions can provide abundant opportunities to expand avenues in Moundville research.

First, future investigations should continue through collaboration with Indigenous stakeholders. Indigenous peoples related to those who lived in the Black Warrior Valley during the Mississippian period can provide crucial perspectives on the anthropological findings in such investigations. Moreover, as active collaborators on projects, such research can contribute to the sustainability of archaeological practice and support additional avenues for the participation of those communities traditionally excluded in and from the field.

Second, ground-truthing these features can help confirm and provide greater clarity to the diachronic and synchronic relationships between them at the site. Archaeological and geophysical surveying can expand around the additional elevated areas near the mound, to the river, and further south to identify other potential features related to mound-based occupations. Given the dense woods around the site, shovel test pits (STPs) might provide a suitable option to identify the full extent of the village. Identifying additional features might alter the perspectives provided in this research pertaining to community, identity, and social landscapes. The further

confirmation of these features can offer vital archaeological data that can guide geophysical investigations and interpretations in the Black Warrior River Valley.

DISCUSSION AND CONCLUSION

At Snow's Bend, I identified three likely residential areas that demonstrate continuity from the mound to the cemetery. However, many of the architectural features are not fully defined, representing portions of rectilinear walls and interior partitions. Of the several structures identified, there are a wide range of architectural styles evident, with circular structures near the mound, and square and rectangular structures moving towards the river. These architectural styles are all common to the broader Mississippian community of architectural practice, where square and rectangular structures with interior partitions, and larger circular structures are common during the Late Mississippian and Early Colonial periods (Steere 2017, 2021). Again, the specific organization patterns of these structures are unclear. Yet, potential architectural features do cluster around each other. These might represent neighborhoods. However, it is important to consider if a household, a group of households around a communal space, or multiple communal spaces such as courtyard is an appropriate unit of analysis for defining neighborhoods.

Regardless of the difficulty in assessing social organization, particularly considering the difficulties in interpreting the palimpsest of geophysical data, settlement at Snow's Bend suggests a complicated history. There may be more variation throughout the Black Warrior River Valley, therefore it is important to investigate and support these cases on a site-by-site basis. For example, if Snow's Bend is the Apafalaya visited by Hernando de Soto these surveys do support the description of the town as a nucleated settlement (Hudson et al. 1990b; Shuck-Hall 2009).

However, expanding studies to survey other places around the mound could provide contrary evidence, but overall, different ways to identify and clarify this historical event are necessary.

Given the density of population, and the unique variation in the spatial dimensions of mortuary practice, Snow's Bend holds an interesting position in the Moundville Chiefdom. While social and physical landscapes are constantly in motion (Ingold 1993; Richard 2018), the aggregation of communities for mutual protection might provide an example of a complicated, contested landscape (Richard 2018). Therefore, during the period of outmigration in the valley, the development of physical space at Snow's Bend might represent a product of disjuncture in regional power and politics (Melly 2017; Richard 2018), an interpretation that supports different interpretations of the Mississippian fission-fusion process (Blitz 1999; Shuck-Hall 2009). However, the cleaving of power and politics over space within the region provides only one perspective to understand the development and settlement patterns.

Architectural evidence at the site also underscores the nature of varying uses, functions, and meanings of mounds (Kassabaum 2021). For example, mounds are meant to communicate social meaning (Brennan 2021). The organization of architecture from the mound and immediate neighborhood present a unique case for further research. Previous research on the mound has helped understand the long-term intentionality in mound building as an important component to community-making and community-maintenance (Filoromo et al. 2022; Plattner et al. 2022). Since the neighborhood has a courtyard that opens and facilitates movement away from the mound, it calls into question the scales in which symbolic distancing is visible. Acts of symbolic distance in the Mississippian world (Rodning 2015), and movement away from Moundville (Knight 2016) are important to consider. If architecture and space represent critical ways groups

express this symbolic distance, the act of orienting private courtyards away from the mound, such as I speculate in the South Village residential area, might provide another example.

In conclusion, geophysical surveying provides a useful tool in the noninvasive investigation of Mississippian landscapes and social spaces. After identifying three potential residential areas, it is possible to investigate relationships between the mound and cemetery, identify the spatial organization of the village, and relate these to the contrasting interpretations of settlement patterns in the Black Warrior River Valley. Over time, Snow's Bend represents a central location for dwellings, thus adding an additional layer to the complicated histories of movement and meaning in Moundville's social landscapes.

Bibliography

Adkison, John Wm. (Bill)

1991 Early Spanish Bead Found in Tuscaloosa County. *Stones and Bones Newsletter* 33:2-3.

Anderson, Benedict

2016 *Imagined Communities: Reflection on the Origin and Spread of Nationalism.* Revised ed. Verso, New York.

Anderson, David

1994 *The Savannah River Chiefdoms: Political Change in the Late Prehistoric Southeast.* University of Alabama Press, Tuscaloosa.

Arensberg, Conrad

1961 The Community as Object and as Sample. *American Anthropologist* 63(2):241-264.

Aspinall, Arnold, Chris Gaffney, and Armin Schmidt

2008 Magnetometry for Archaeologists. Altamira Press, Lanham.

Basso, Keith H.

1996 *Wisdom Sits in Places: Landscape and Language Among the Western Apache.* University of New Mexico Press, Albuquerque.

Benchley, Elizabeth

1974 Mississippian Secondary Mound Loci: A Comparative Functional Analysis in a Time-Space Perspective PhD Dissertation, Department of Anthropology, University of Wisconsin, Milwaukee, Milwaukee.

Binley, Andrew, and Lee Slater

2020 *Resistivity and Induced Polarization: Theory and Applications to the Near Surface Earth.* Cambridge University Press, Cambridge.

Birch, Jennifer

2012 Coalescent Communities: Settlement Aggregation and Social Integration in Iroquoian Ontario. *American Antiquity* 77(4):646-670.

2016 Interpreting Iroquoian Site Structure Through Geophysical Prospection and Soil Chemistry: Insights From a Coalescent Community in Ontario, Canada. *Journal of Archaeological Science: Reports* 8:102-111.

Blair, Elliot H.

2013 The Guale Landscape of Mission Santa Catalina de Guale: 30 Years of Geophysics at a Spanish Colonial Mission. In *Life Among the Tides: Recent Archaeology*

on the Georgia Bight, edited by Victor D. Thompson, and David Hurst Thomas, pp. 375-394. American Museum of Natural History, New York, NY.

2015 Making Mission Communities: Population Aggregation, Social Networks, and Communities of Practice at 17th Century Mission Santa Catalina de Guale PhD Dissertation, Department of Anthropology, University of California, Berkeley, Berkeley.

Blanton, Dennis B.

2013 *Point of Contact: Archaeological Evaluation of a Potential De Soto Encampment in Georgia.* Submitted to Fernbank Museum of Natural History, Atlanta.

2020 Conquistador's Wake: Tracking the Legacy of Hernando de Soto in the Indigenous Southeast. University of Georgia Press, Athens.

Blanton, Dennis B., and Thomas H. Gresham

2007 An Experimental Perspective on Mississippian Small Pole Structures. In *Architectural Variability in the Southeast*, edited by Cameron Lacquement, pp. 32-48. University of Alabama Press, Tuscalooa.

Blitz, John

1999 Mississippian Chiefdoms and the Fission-Fusion Process. *American Antiquity* 64(4):577-592.

2008 Moundville. University of Alabama Press, Tuscaloosa.

2016 Mound X and Selective Forgetting at Early Moundville. In *Rethinking Moundville and its Hinterland*, edited by Vincas Steponaitis, and C. Margaret Scarry, pp. 54-73. University Press of Florida, Gainesville.

Blitz, John, and Karl Lorenz

2002 The Early Mississippian Frontier in the Lower Chattahoochee-Apalachicola River Valley. *Southeastern Archaeology* 21(2):117-135.

Bloch, Leigh

2020 Animate Earth, Settler Ruins: Mound Landscapes and Decolonial Futures in the Native South. *Cultural Anthropology* 35(4):516-545.

Boles, Steven, and Robert McCullough

2018 Gypsy Rose Lee, an Early Mississippian Site in the Greater Cahokia Uplands: It's Not Just a Small Farmstead Like We Once Thought. *Illinois Archaeology* 30:43-79.

Boudreaux, Edmond, Paige Ford, and Heidi de Gregory

2021 Variability Within a Mississippian Community: Houses, Cemeteries, and Corporate Groups at the Town Creek Site in the North Carolina Piedmont. In *Reconsidering Mississippian Communities and Households*, edited by Elizabeth Watts Malouchos, and Alleen Betzenhauser, pp. 101-119. University of Alabama Press, Tuscaloosa.

Bourdieu, Pierre

1977 Outline of a Theory of Practice. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge.

1990 *The Logic of Practice*. Translated by Richard Nice. Stanford University Press, Stanford.

2013 The Production and Reproduction of Legitimate Language. In *Readings for a History of Anthropological Theory*, edited by Paul Erickson, and Liam Murphy. 4 ed. University of Toronto Press, Toronto.

Bozeman, Tandy Key

1982 Moundville Phase Communities in the Black Warrior River Valley PhD dissertation, Department of Anthropology, University of California, Santa Barbara.

Brennan, Tamira K.

2007 In-Ground Evidence of Above-Ground Architecture at Kincaid Mounds. In *Architectural Variability in the Southeast*, edited by Cameron Lacquement, pp. 73-100. University of Alabama Press, Tuscaloosa.

2021 Making Mounds, Making Mississippian Communities in Southern Illinois. In *Reconsidering Mississippian Communities and Households*, edited by Elizabeth Watts Malouchos, and Alleen Betzenhauser, pp. 32-49. University of Alabama Press, Tuscaloosa.

Bronk Ramsey, Christopher

2021 OxCal Program Version 4.4. Oxford Radiocarbon Accelerator Unit, University of Oxford, Oxford.

Brown, Ian W., and Vincas P. Steponaitis

2017 The Grand Village of the Natchez Indians was Indeed Grand: A Reconsideration of the Fatherland Site Landscapes. In *Forging Southeastern Identities: Social Archaeology, Ethnohistory, and Folklore of the Mississippian to Early Historic South,* edited by Gregory Waselkov, and Marvin Smith, pp. 182-204. The University of Alabama Press, Tuscaloosa.

Brubaker, Rogers, and Frederick Cooper

2000 Beyond "Identity". Theory and Society 29(1):1-47.

Byers, A. Martin

2013 From Cahokia to Larson to Moundville: Death, World Renewal, and the Sacred in the Mississippian Social World of the Late Prehistoric Eastern Woodlands. Newfound Press, Knoxville.

Cajigas, Rachel

2017 An Integrated Approach to Surveying an Early Agricultural Period Landscape: Magnetic Gradiometry and Satellite Imagery at La Playa, Sonora, Mexico. *Journal of Archaeological Science: Reports* 15:381-392.

Cobb, Charles, and Brian Butler

2017 Mississippian Plazas, Performances, and Portable Histories. *Journal of Archaeological Method and Theory* 24:676-702.

Cobb, Charles, James Legg, Steven Smith, Chester B. DePratter, Brad Lieb, and Edmond Boudreaux

2021 The Remains of the Fray: Nascent Colonialism and Heterogeneous Hybridity. *American Antiquity.*

Cohen, Anthony

1985 *The Symbolic Construction of Community*. Routledge, London.

1994 Self-Consciousness: An Alternative Anthropology of Identity. Routledge, London.

Conger, Megan Anne, and Jennifer Birch

2019 Archaeological Reconnaissance Through Multi-Method Geophysical and Geochemical Survey at Two Iroquoian Village Sites, Southern Ontario, Canada. *Journal* of Archaeological Science: Reports 26:101888.

Connerton, Paul

1989 How Societies Remember. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge.

Curren, Caleb

1984 *The Protohistoric Period in Central Alabama*. Alabama-Tombigbee Regional Commission, Camden.

Cusick, James

1995 The Importance of the Community Study Approach in Historical Archaeology. *Historical Archaeology* 29(4):59-83.

Davis, Jera R.

2014 On Common Ground: Social Memory and the Plaza at Early Moundville PhD Dissertation, Department of Anthropology, University of Alabama, Tuscaloosa.

Davis, Jera R., Chester P. Walker, and John Blitz

2015 Remote Sensing as Community Settlement Analysis at Moundville. *American Antiquity* 80(1):161-169.

DeJarnette, David L., and Christopher S. Peebles

1970 The Development of Alabama Archaeology, the Snow's Bend Site. *Journal of Alabama Archaeology* 16(2):77-119.

Dornan, Jennifer

2002 Agency and Archaeology: Past, Present, and Future Directions. *Journal of Archaeological Method and Theory* 9(4):303-329.

Dumas, Ashley, and Vernon James Knight, Jr.

2021 Ceramics and Chronology of the Marengo Archaeological Complex. Paper presented at the Southeastern Archaeological Conference, Durham, NC.

Ernenwein, Eileen G.

2009 Integration of Multidimensional Archaeogeophysical Data Using Supervised and Unsupervised Classification. *Near Surface Geophysics* 7:147-158.

Ethridge, Robbie

2003 *Creek Country: The Creek Indians and Their World*. University of North Carolina Press, Chapel Hill.

2010 From Chicaza to Chickasaw: The European Invasion and the Transformation of the MIssissippian World, 1540-1715. University of North Carolina Press, Chapel Hill.

Filoromo, Steven, Alain Plattner, and Elliot H. Blair

2022 Building Community in Moundville's Chiefdom: New Insights from Geophysical Investigations of the Late Mississippian Platform Mound at Snow's Bend. Paper presented at the Society for American Archaeology, Chicago.

Friberg, Christina M., Gregory Wilson, Dana Bardolph, Jeremy Wilson, John S. Flood, Scott D. Hipskind, Matthew D. Pike, and Duane Esarey

2021 The Geophysics of Community, Place, and Identity in the Mississippian Illinois River Valley. *Journal of Archaeological Science: Reports* 36:10288.

Galloway, Patricia

2006 *Practicing Ethnohistory: Mining Archives, Hearing Testimony, COnstructing Narrative.* University of Nebraska Press, Lincoln.

Galloway, Patricia, and Clara Sue Kidwell

2004 Choctaw in the East. In *Southeast*, Vol 14, edited by Raymond Fogelson, pp. 499-519. Handbook of North American Indians, William Sturtevant, general editor. Smithsonian Institution Press, Washington.

Giddens, Anthony

1984 *The Constitution of Society: Outline of the Theory of Structuration.* University of California Press, Berkeley.

Goffman, Erving

1959 *The Presentation of Self in Everyday Life*. Doubleday, New York.

1986 *Frame Analysis: An Essay on the Organization of Experience*. Northeastern University Press, Boston.

Gougeon, Ramie A.

2007 An Architectural Grammar of Late Mississippian Houses in Northwest Georgia. In *Architectural Variability in the Southeast*, edited by Cameron Lacquement, pp. 136-152. University of Alabama Press, Tuscaloosa.

Green, William, Adam Wiewel, and Steven De Vore

2021 Geophysical Detection and Assessment of Leveled Mounds: An Example From the Upper Mississippi Valley. *American Antiquity* 86(2):305-326.

Hammerstedt, Scott W.

2000 Characteristics of Late Woodland and Mississippian Settlements in the Black Warrior Valley, Alabama, University of Alabama.

Hammerstedt, Scott W., Jami Lockhart, Patrick Livingood, Tim Mulvihill, Amanda Regnier, George Sabo III, and John Samuelsen

2017 Multisensor Remote Sensing at Spiro: Discovering Intrasite Organization. In *Archaeological Remote Sensing in North America: Innovative Techniques for Anthropological Applications*, edited by Duncan McKinnon, and Bryan Haley, pp. 11-27. University of Alabama Press, Tuscaloosa.

Hammerstedt, Scott W., Mintcy Maxham, and Jennifer L. Myer

2016 Rural Settlement in the Black Warrior Valley. In *Rethinking Moundville and its Hinterland*, edited by Vincas Steponaitis, and C. Margaret Scarry, pp. 134-161. University Press of Florida, Gainesville.

Hammerstedt, Scott W., and Jennifer L. Myer

2001 Characteristics of Mississippian Settlement in the Black Warrior Valley, Alabama: Final Report of Season II of the Black Warrior Valley Survey, Report Submitted to Alabama Historical Commission, Mongtomery.

Harris, Oliver J.T.

2014 (Re)assembling Communities. *Journal of Archaeological Method and Theory* 21:76-97.

Hayward, Hampton D., Caleb Curren, Ned J. Jenkins, and Keith J. Little
1995 Archaeological Investigation of Stephens Bluff, a Moundville III Site in the
Proposed Pafallaya Province. *Journal of Alabama Archaeology* 41(1):1-35.

Hudson, Charles

1997 Knights of Spain, Warriors of the Sun: Hernando de Soto and the South's Ancient Chiefdoms. University of Georgia Press, Athens.

Hudson, Charles, Marvin Smith, and Chester B. DePratter

1990a The Hernando de Soto Expedition: From Mabila to the Mississippi RIver. In *Towns and Temples along the Mississippi River*, edited by D. H. Dye, and C. A. Cox, pp. 181-207. University of Alabama Press, Tuscaloosa.

1990b The Hernando de Soto Expedition: From Mabila to the Mississippi River. In *Towns and Temples Along the MIssissippi*, edited by David H. Dye, and Cheryl Anne Cox, pp. 181-207.

Ingold, Tim

1993 The Temporality of the Landscape. *World Archaeology* 25(2):152-174.

Isbell, William

2000 What we should be studying: the "imagined community" and the "natural community". In *The Archaeology of Communities: A New World Perspective*, edited by Marcello Canuto, and Jason Yeager, pp. 243-266. Routledge, London.

Jackson, H. Edwin, C. Margaret Scarry, and Susan Scott

2016 Domestic and Ritual Meals in the Moundville Chiefdom. In *Rethinking Moundville and Its Hinterland*, edited by Vincas Steponaitis, and C. Margaret Scarry, pp. 187-233. University Press of Florida, Gainesville.

Jackson, Paul D.

2004 Coexistence of the West Jefferson and Moundville I phases. *Journal of Alabama Archaeology* 50(1):1-17.

Jenkins, Ned

2003 The Terminal Woodland/Mississippian Tradition in West and Central Alabama. *Journal of Alabama Archaeology* 49(1-2):1-62.

Jones, David

2015 Death, Uncertainty, and Rhetoric. In *Beyond Germs: Native Depopulation in North America*, edited by Catherine Cameron, Paul Kelton, and Alan Swedlund, pp. 16-49. Amerind Studies in Anthropology, John Ware, general editor. University of Arizona Press, Tucson.

Kassabaum, Megan

2019 Early Platforms, Early Plazas: Exploring the Precursors to Mississippian Moundand-Plaza Centers. *Journal of Archaeological Research* 27:187-247.

2021 *A History of Platform Mound Ceremonialism: Finding Meaning in Elevated Ground.* University Press of Florida, Gainesville.

Kelly, Robert L., Lin Poyer, and Bram Tucker

2005 An Ethnoarchaeological Study of Mobility, Architectural Investment, and Food Sharing among Madagascar's Mikea. *American Anthropologist* 107(3):403-416.
King, Adam, Chester P. Walker, and F. Kent Reilly

2021 The Etowah Archaeo-Geophysical Survey: Creating Place and Identity Through the Built Environment. *Journal of Archaeological Science: Reports* 36:1-9.

King, Adam, Chester P. Walker, Robert V. Sharp, F. Kent Reilly, and Duncan McKinnon 2011 Remote Sensing Data from Etowah's Mound A: Architecture and the Re-Creation of Mississippian Tradition. *American Antiquity* 76(2):355-371.

Knight, Vernon James

1998 Moundville as a Diagrammatic Ceremonial Center. In *Archaeology of the Moundville Chiefdom*, edited by Vernon James Knight Jr., and Vincas Steponaitis, pp. 44-62. Smithsonian Institution Press, Washington.

2010 *Mound Excavations at Moundville: Architecture, Elites and Social Order.* University of Alabama Press, Tuscaloosa.

2016 Social Archaeology of Monumental Spaces at Moundville. In *Rethinking Moundville and its Hinterland*, edited by Vincas Steponaitis, and C. Margaret Scarry, pp. 23-43. University Press of Florida, Gainesville.

Knight, Vernon James, Lyle W. Konigsberg, and Susan R. Frankenberg 1999 A Gibbs Sampler Approach to the Dating of Phases in the Moundville Sequence, Unpublished manuscript.

Knight, Vernon James, and Vincas Steponaitis

1998 A New History of Moundville. In *Archaeology of the Moundville Chiefdom*, edited by Knight Jr. Vernon James, and Vincas Steponaitis, pp. 1-25. Smithsonian Institution Press, Washington.

Kolb, Michael J., and James Snead

1997 It's a Small World After All: Comparative Analyses of Community Organization in Archaeology. *American Antiquity* 62(4):609-628.

Kvamme, Kenneth L.

2003a Geophysical Surveys as Landscape Archaeology. *American Antiquity* 68(3):435-457.

2003b Multidimensional Prospecting in North American Great Plains Village Sites. *Archaeological Prospection* 10(2):131-142.

2006a Data Processing and Interpretation. In *Remote Sensing in Archaeology: An Explicitly North American Perspective*, edited by Jay Johnson, pp. 235-250. University of Alabama Press, Tuscsaloosa.

2006b Integrating Multidimensional Geophysical Data. *Archaeological Prospection* 13(1):57-72.

2006c Magnetometry: Nature's Gift to Archaeology. In *Remote Sensing in Archaeology: An Explicitly North American Perspective*, edited by Jay Johnson. University of Alabama Press, Tuscaloosa.

2007a Integrating multiple geophysical datasets. In *Remote sensing in archaeology*, edited by James Wiseman, and Farouk El-Baz, pp. 345-374. Springer, New York.

2007b Integrating Multiple Geophysical Datasets. In *Remote Sensing in Archaeology*, edited by James Wiseman, and Farouk El-Baz, pp. 345-274. Interdisciplinary Contributions to Archaeology, Michael Jochim, general editor. Springer, New York.

2017 A Decade of Geophysics and Remote Sensing in North American Archaeology: Practices, Advances, and Trends. In *Archaeological Remote Sensing in North America: Innovative Techniques for Anthropological Applications*, edited by Duncan McKinnon, and Bryan Haley, pp. 215-230. University of Alabama Press, Tuscaloosa.

Kvamme, Kenneth L., Eileen G. Ernenwein, and Jeremy G. Menzer

2019 Puting it all together: Geophysical data integration. In *Innovation in Near-Surface Geophysics: Instrumentation, Application, and Data Processing Methods*, edited by Raffaele Persico, Salvatore Piro, and Neil Linford, pp. 287-340. Elsevier, Amsterdam.

Lacquement, Cameron

2007 Typology, Chronology, and Technological Changes in Mississippian Domestic Architecture in West-Central Alabama. In *Architectural Variability in the Southeast*, edited by Cameron Lacquement, pp. 49-72. University of Alabama Press, Tuscaloosa.

2009 Landscape Modification at Moundville: An Energetics Assessment of a Mississippian Polity PhD Dissertation, Department of Anthropology, University of Alabama.

2020 Physical Modifications to Late Prehistoric Plazas in the Southeast U.S. *Journal of Anthropological Archaeology* 58:101164.

Lefebvre, Henri

1991 *The Production of Space*. Translated by Donald Nicholson-Smith. Basil Blackwell, Oxford.

Legg, James, Charles Cobb, Edmond Boudreaux, Brad Lieb, Chester B. DePratter, and Steven Smith

2020 The Stark Farm Enigma: Evidence of the Chicasa (Chikasha)-Soto Encounter in Mississippi? In *Modeling Entradas: Sixteenth-Century Assemblages in North America*, edited by Clay Mathers, pp. 43-67. University Press of Florida, Gainesville.

Lewis, R. Barry, and Charles Stout

1998 The Town as a Metaphor. In *Mississippian Towns and Sacred Spaces: Searching for an Architectural Grammar*, edited by R. Barry Lewis, and Charles Stout, pp. 227-242. University of Alabama Press, Tuscaloosa.

Lewis, R. Barry, Charles Stout, and Cameron B. Wesson

1998 The Design of Mississippian Towns. In *Mississippian Towns and Sacred Spaces: Searching for an Architectural Grammar*, edited by R. Barry Lewis, and Charles Stout. University of Alabama Press, Tuscaloosa.

Lightfoot, Kent

2006 Missions, Furs, Gold and Manifest Destiny: Rethinking an Archaeology of Colonialism for Western North America. In *Historical Archaeology*, edited by M. Hall, and S. Silliman, pp. 272-292. Blackwell Publishing, Malden.

Lightfoot, Kent, Antoinette Martinez, and Ann Schiff

1998 Daily Practice and Material Culture in Pluralistic Social Setting: An Archaeological Study of Culture Change and Persistence from Fort Ross, California. *American Antiquity* 63(2):199-222.

Lindauer, Owen, and John Blitz

1997 Higher Ground: The Archaeology of North American Platform Mounds. *Journal of Archaeological Research* 5(2):169-207.

Little, Keith J, and Caleb Curren

1990 Conquest Archaeology of Alabama. In *Columbian Consequences, Volume 2: Archaeological and Historical Perspectives on the Spanish Borderlands East*, edited by David Hurst Thomas, pp. 169-196. Smithsonian Institution Press, Washington.

1995 The Moundville IV Phase on the Black Warrior River. *Journal of Alabama Archaeology* 41(1):55-77.

Lockhart, Jami

2010 Tom Jones (3HE40): Geophysical Survey and Spatial Organization at a Caddo Mound Site in Southwest Arkansas. *Southeastern Archaeology* 29(2):236-249.

Mahar, Ginessa

2010 Theorizing Formation and Function Through Shallow Geophysics: An Integrated Approach to the Remote Sensing of Two Late Archaic Shell Rings, St. Catherines Island, GA MA Thesis, Department of Anthropology, Hunter College, New York.

Marcoux, Jon Bernard

2007 On Reconsidering Display Goods Production and Circulation in the Moundville Chiefdom. *Southeastern Archaeology* 26(2):232-245.

Marshall, Yvonne

2008 The Social Lives of Lived and Inscribed Objects: A Lapita Perspective. *The Journal of the Polynesian Society* 117(1):59-101.

Maxham, Mintcy

2000 Rural Communities in the Black Warrior Valley, Alabama: The Role of Commoners in the Creation of the Moundville I Landscape. *American Antiquity* 65(2):337-354.

2004 Native Constructions of Landscapes in the Black Warrior Valley, Alabama, AD 1020-1520. Doctor of Philosophy, Department of Anthropology, University of North Carolina, Chapel Hill.

Melly, Carolina

2017 *Bottleneck: Moving, Building, and Belonging in an African City.* The University of Chicago Press, Chicago.

Milsom, John, and Asger Eriksen

2011 Field Geophysics. Wiley-Blackwell, Sussex.

Murdock, George

1949 Social Structure. MacMillan, New York.

Murdock, George, and Suzanne Wilson

1972 Settlement Patterns and Community Organization: Cross-Cultural Codes 3. *Ethnology* 11(3):254-295.

Mussett, Alan E., and M. Aftab Khan

2000 Looking Into the Earth: An Introduction to Geological Geophysics. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge.

Myer, Jennifer L.

2002 Among the Fields: Mississippian Settlement Patterns in the Black Warrior Valley, Alabama, The University of Alabama, Tuscaloosa.

Nelson, Erin Stevens

2014 Intimate Landscapes: The Social Nature of the Spaces Between. *Archaeological Prospection* 21(1):49-57.

2021 Negotiating Community at Parchman Place, A Mississippian Town in the Northern Yazzo Basin. In *Reconsidering Mississippian Communities and Households*, edited by Elizabeth Watts Malouchos, and Alleen Betzenhauser, pp. 63-80. University of Alabama Press, Tuscaloosa.

Nielsen, Axel E., Carlos I. Angiorama, and Florencia Ávila

2017 Ritual as Interaction with Non-Humans: Prehispanic Mountain Pass Shrines in the Southern Andes. In *Rituals of the Past: Prehispanic and Colonial Case Studies in Andean*

Archaeology, edited by Silvana Rosenfeld, and Stefanie Bautista, pp. 241-266. University Press of Colorado, Boulder.

Ortner, Sherry

1984 Theory in Anthropology since the Sixties. *Comparitive Studies in Society and History* 26(1):126-166.

Oswin, John

2009 A Field Guide to Geophysics in Archaeology. Springer, Berlin.

Oviedo y Valdés, Gonzalo Fernández

1993 Account of the Northern Conquest and Discovery of Hernando de Soto. In *The De Soto Chronicles: The Expedition of Hernando de Soto to North America in 1539-1543*, edited by Lawrence A. Clayton, Vernon James Knight, and Edward C. Moore, pp. 247-306. Translated by John Worth. University of Alabam Press, Tuscaloosa.

Patch, Shawn M., Sarah Lowry, and Erin Pritchard

2017 Investigating Mississippian Community Organization with Geophysics: Two Examples from the Tennessee RIver Valley. In *Archaeological Remote Sensing in North America: Innovative Techniques for Anthropological Applications*, edited by Duncan McKinnon, and Bryan Haley, pp. 28-45. University of Alabama Press, Tuscaloosa.

Pauketat, Timothy, and Susan Alt

2005 Agency in a Postmold? Physicality and the Archaeology of Culture-Making. *Journal of Archaeological Method and Theory* 12(3):213-236.

Peebles, Christopher S.

1986 Paradise Lost, Strayed, and Stolen: Prehistoric Social Devolution in the Southeast. In *The Burden of Being Civilized: An Anthropological Perspective on the Discontents of Civilization*, edited by Miles Richardson, and Malcolm Webb, pp. 24-40. Southern Anthropological Society Proceedings, Vol. 18. University of Georgia Press, Athens.

1987 The Rise and Fall of the Mississippian in Western Alabama: The Moundville and Summerville Phases, A.D. 1000 to 1600. *Mississippi Archaeology* 22:1-31.

Peeples, Matthew

2018 Connected Communities: Networks, Identity, and Social Change in the Ancient Cibola World. The University of Arizona Press, Tuscon.

Plattner, Alain, Steven Filoromo, and Elliot H. Blair

2021 Geophysical Investigation of a Late Mississippian Platform Mound Using Time-Domain Induced Polarization. Paper presented at the American Geophysical Union, New Orleans.

2022 Multi-method geophysical investigation at Snow's Bend, a Mississippian Platform Mound. *Archaeological Prospection* (in review).

Pluckhahn, Thomas J.

2010 Household Archaeology in the Southeastern United States: History, Trends, and Challenges. *Journal of Archaeological Research* 18:331-385.

Pluckhahn, Thomas J., Martin Menz, Shaun E. West, and Neill J. Wallis

2018 A New History of Community Formation and Change at Kolomoki (9ER1). *American Antiquity* 83(2):320-344.

Porth, Erik

2011 Raised Ground, Razed Structure: Ceramic Chronology, Occupation and Chiefly Authority on Mound P at Moundville MA Thesis, Department of Anthropology, University of Alabama, Tuscaloosa.

2017 Reconsidering Institutional Collapse and Social Transformation at Moundville During the Fifteenth Century. Doctor of Philosophy, Department of Anthropology, University of alabama, Tuscaloosa.

Preucel, Robert

2006 Archaeological Semiotics. Social Archaeology. Blackwell Publishing, Malden.

Preucel, Robert, and Alexander Bauer

2001 Archaeological Pragmatics. *Norwegian Archaeological Review* 34(2):85-96.

Rapoport, Amos

1969 House Form and Culture. Prentice-Hall Inc., Englewood Cliffs.

Rees, Mark A

2001 Mississippian political culture: Contrasting historical trajectories in southeastern North America.

Regnier, Amanda

2014 Reconstructing Tascalusa's Chiefdom: Pottery Styles and the Social Composition of Late Mississippian Communities along the Alabama River. University of Alabama Press, Tuscaloosa.

Reimer, Paula, William E N Austin, Edouard Bard, Alex Bayliss, Paul G Blackwell, Christopher Bronk Ramsey, Martin Butzin, Hai Cheng, R Lawrence Edwards, Michael Friedrich, Pieter Grootes, M., Thomas P Guilderson, Irka Hajdas, Timothy J Heaton, Alan Hogg, Konrad A Hughen, Bernd Kromer, Sturt W Manning, Raimund Muscheler, Jonathan G Palmer, Charlotte Pearson, Johannes van der Plicht, Ron W Reimer, David A Richards, E Marian Scott, John R. Southon, Christian S M Turney, Lukas Wacker, Florian Adolphi, Ulf Büntgen, Manuela Capano, Simon M Fahrni, Alexandra Fogtmann-Schulz, Ronny Friedrich, Peter Köler, Sabrina Kudsk, Fusa Miyake, Jesper Olsen, Frederick Reinig, Minoru Sakamoto, Adam Sookdeo, and Sahra Talamo

2020 The INTCAL20 Northern Hemisphere Radiocarbon Age Calibration Curve (0-55 cal kBP). *Radiocarbon* 62(4):725-757.

Richard, François G.

2018 *Reluctant Landscapes: Historical Anthropologies of Political Experiences in Siin, Senegal.* The University of Chicago Press, Chicago.

Rodning, Christopher

2015 Native American Public Architecture in the Southern Appalachians. In *Archaeological Perspectives on the Southern Appalachians: A Multiscalar Approach*, edited by Ramie A. Gougeon, and Maureen Meyers, pp. 105-140. University of Tennessee Press, Knoxville.

Rodning, Christopher, and Amber R. Thorpe

2021 The Social Lives and Symbolism of Cherokee Houses and Townhouses. In *Reconsidering Mississippian Communities and Households*, edited by Elizabeth Watts Malouchos, and Alleen Betzenhauser, pp. 164-178. University of Alabama Press, Tuscaloosa.

Rogers, J. Daniel

1995 The Archaeological Analysis of Domestic Organization. In *Mississippian Communities and Households*, edited by J. Daniel Rogers, and Bruce Smith, pp. 7-31. University of Alabama Press, Tuscaloosa.

Rogers, J. Daniel, and Bruce D. Smith (editors)

1995 *Mississippian communities and households*. University of Alabama Press, Tuscaloosa.

Roosens, Eugene

1994 The Primordial Nature of Origins in Migrant Ethnicity. In *The Anthropology of Ethnicity: Beyond "Ethnic Groups and Boundaries"*, edited by Hans Vermeulen, and Cora Govers, pp. 81-104. Waveland Press, Long Grove, IL.

Ryan, Susan

2008 Constructing Community and Transforming Identity at Albert Porter Pueblo. In *The Social Construction of Communities: Agency, Structure, and Identity in the Prehispanic Southwest*, edited by Mark D. Varien, and James M. Potter, pp. 69-88. Altamira Press, Lanham.

Scarry, C. Margaret

1993 Agricultural Risk and the Development of Moundville. In *Foraging and Farming in the Eastern Woodlands*, edited by C. Margaret Scarry, pp. 157-181. University Press of Florida, Gainesville.

Scarry, C. Margaret, and John F. Scarry

1997 West Jefferson Community Organization in the Black Warrior Valley, Alabama. Report prepared for the National Geographic Society, Grant 5278-94. Submitted to Research Laboratories of Anthropology, University of North Carolina-Chapel Hill, Chapel Hill.

Scarry, C. Margaret, and Vincas Steponaitis

2016a Moundville as a Ceremonial Ground. In *Rethinking Moundville and Its Hinterlands*, edited by Vincas Steponaitis, and C. Margaret Scarry, pp. 255-268. University Press of Florida, Gainesville.

2016b New Directions in Moundville Research. In *Rethinking Moundville and its Hinterland*, edited by Vincas Steponaitis, and C. Margaret Scarry, pp. 1-22. University Press of Florida, Gainesville.

Scarry, John F., H. Edwin Jackson, and Mintcy Maxham

2016 Late Prehistoric Social Practice in the Rural Black Warrior River Valley. In *Rethinking Moundville and its Hinterland*, edited by Vincas Steponaitis, and C. Margaret Scarry, pp. 162-186. University Press of Florida, Gainesville.

Schmidt, Armin

2009 Electrical and Magnetic Methods in Archaeological Prospection. In *Seeing the Unseen: Geophysics and Landscape Archaeology*, edited by S. Campana, and S. Piro, pp. 67-81. Taylor & Francis Group, London.

Schoeninger, Margaret, and Mark Schurr

1998 Human Subsistence at Moundville: The Stable-Isotope Data. In *Archaeology of the Moundville Chiefdom*, edited by Vernon James Knight, and Vincas Steponaitis, pp. 120-132. University of Alabama Press, Tuscaloosa.

Sewell, William H.

1992 A Theory of Structure: Duality, Agency, and Transformation. *American Journal* of Sociology 98(1):1-29.

Shuck-Hall, Sheri

2009 Alabama and Coushatta Diaspora and Coalescence in the Mississippian Shatter Zone. In *Mapping the Mississippian Shatter Zone: The Colonial Indian Slave Trade and Regional Instability in the American South*, edited by Robbie Ethridge, and Sheri Shuck-Hall, pp. 250-271. University of Nebraska Press, Lincoln.

Silliman, Stephen

2001 Agency, Practical Politics and the Archaeology of Culture Contact. *Journal of Social Archaeology* 1(2):190-209.

Silliman, Stephen, Paul Farnsworth, and Kent Lightfoot

2000 Magnetometer Propsecting in Historical Archaeology: Evaluating Survey Options at a 19th-Century Rancho Site in California. *Historical Archaeology* 34(2):89-109.

Skousen, B. Jacob, and Christina M. Friberg

2021 Investigating Mississippian Landscapes, Places, and Identities Through Geophysics. *Journal of Archaeological Science: Reports* 36:1-7.

Smith, Adam T.

2001 The Limitation of Doxa: Agency and Subjectivity from an Archaeological Point of View. *Journal of Social Archaeology* 1(2):155-171.

Smith, Allison

2017 Sherds With Style: A Ceramic Analysis From a Protohistoric Site in Oktibbeha County, Mississippi. Thesis, University of Mississippi, Oxford.

Smith, Marvin

1987 Archaeology of Aboriginal Culture Change in the Interior Southeast: Depopulation During the Early Historic Period. University Press of Florida, Gainesville.

Soja, Edward

2010 *Postmodern Geographies: The Reassertion of Space in Critical Social Theory.* Verso, New York.

Spivey-Faulkner, S. Margaret

2021 Juggling Sand: Ethics, Identity, and Archaeological Geophysics in the Mississippian World. *Journal of Archaeological Science: Reports* 36:1-7.

Steere, Benjamin

2017 *The Archaeology of Houses and Households in the Native Southeast*. University of Alabama Press, Tuscaloosa.

2021 Mississippian Communities and Households from a Bird's-Eye View. In *Reconsidering Mississippian Communities and Households*, edited by Elizabeth Watts Malouchos, and Alleen Betzenhauser, pp. 81-100. University of Alabama Press, Tuscaloosa.

Steponaitis, Vincas P.

1980 Ceramics, chronology, and community patterns at Moundville: a late prehistoric site in Alabama. PhD, Department of Anthropology, University of Michigan, Ann Arbor, MI.

1992 Excavations at 1Tu50, an Early Mississippian Center Near Moundville. *Southeastern Archaeology* 11(1):1-13.

2009 Ceramics, chronology, and community patterns: An archaeological study at Moundville. University Alabama Press, Tuscaloosa.

Steponaitis, Vincas P.

2007 Population Trends at Moundville. In *Archaeology of the Moundville Chiefdom*, edited by Vernon James Knight Jr., and Vincas Steponaitis, pp. 26-43. University of Alabama Press, Tuscaloosa.

Steponaitis, Vincas P., and C. Margaret Scarry

2016 New Directions in Moundville Research. In *Rethinking Moundville and Its Hinterland*, edited by Vincas P. Steponaitis, and C. Margaret Scarry. University of Florida Press, Gainesville.

TallBear, Kim

2015 An Indigenous Relfection on Working Beyond the Human/Not Human. *A Journal of Lesbian and Gay Studies* 21(2-3):230-235.

Thomas, David Hurst

1987 *The Archaeology of Mission Santa Catalina De Guale: 1. Search and Discovery.* Anthropological Papers of the American Museum of Natural History, New York.

- Thompson, Victor D., Philip J. Arnold, Thomas J. Pluckhahn, and Amber M. Vanderwarker 2011 Situating Remote Sensing in Anthropological Archaeology. Archaeological Prospection 18(3):195-213.
- Thompson, Victor D., Chester B. DePratter, and Amanda D. Roberts Thompson
 2016 A Preliminary Exploration of Santa Elena's Sixteenth Century Colonial
 Landscape Through Shallow Geophysics. *Journal of Archaeological Science: Reports* 9:178-190.

University News.

1932 *Abbeville Herald* March 17. Abbeville, Alabama.

Urban, Greg, and Jason Baird Jackson

2004 Social Organization. In *Southeast*, Vol 14, edited by Raymond Fogelson, pp. 697-706. Handbook of North American Indians, William Sturtevant, general editor. Smithsonian Institution Press, Washington.

Watanabe, John

1992 Maya Saints and Souls in a Changing World. University of Texas Press, Austin.

Watts Malouchos, Elizabeth

2021 Reconsidering Mississippian Communities and Households in Context. In *Reconsidering Mississippian Communities and Households*, edited by Elizabeth Watts Malouchos, and Alleen Betzenhauser, pp. 9-31. University of Alabama Press, Tuscaloosa.

Watts Malouchos, Elizabeth, and Alleen Betzenhauser

2021a Introduction. In *Reconsidering Mississippian Communities and Households*, edited by Elizabeth Watts Malouchos, and Alleen Betzenhauser, pp. 1-8. University of Alabama Press, Tuscaloosa.

2021b Unpacking Storage: Implications for Community-Making during Cahokia's Mississippian Transition. In *Reconsidering Mississippian Communities and Households*, edited by Elizabeth Watts Malouchos, and Alleen Betzenhauser, pp. 146-163. University of Alabama Press, Tuscaloosa.

Watts Malouchos, Elizabeth, Mark Schurr, and Edward W. Herrmann

2021 From the Mound to the Moon: Geophysical Insights into Angel Phase Landscapes. *Journal of Archaeological Science: Reports* 37:102886.

Welch, Paul

1979 Field Notes: Snow's Bend.

1990 Mississippian Emergence in West-Central Alabama. In *Mississippian Emergence*, edited by Bruce Smith, pp. 197-226. Smithsonian Institution Press, Washington.

1991 Moundville's Economy. University of Alabama Press, Tuscaloosa.

1998 Outlying Sites Within the Moundville Chiefdom. In *Archaeology of the Moundville Chiefdom*, edited by Vernon James Knight Jr., and Vincas Steponaitis, pp. 133-166. Smithsonian Institution Press, Washington.

Wernke, Steven A.

2012 Spatial Network Analysis of a Terminal Prehispanic and Early Colonial Settlement in Highland Peru. *Journal of Archaeological Science* 39:1111-1122.

2013 Negotiated Settlements: Andean Communities and Landscapes under Inka and Spanish Colonialism. University Press of Florida, Gainesveille.

2019 Pathways through the Archaeology of Neighborhoods. *Archeological Papers of the American Anthropological Association* 30:180-184.

Wernke, Steven A., and Lauren E. Kohut

2017 Spatial Hegemony and Evangelization: A Network-Based View of an Early Franciscan Doctrinal Settlement in Highland Peru. In *Religion, Space, and the Atlantic World*, edited by John Corrigan, pp. 155-179. University of South Carolina Press, Columbia.

Wernke, Steven A., Lauren E. Kohut, and Abel Traslavina

2017 A GIS of Affordances: Movement and Visibility at a Planned Colonial TOwn in Highland Peru. *Journal of Archaeological Science* 84:22-39.

Wesson, Cameron B.

1998 Mississippian Sacred Landscapes: The View from Alabama. In *Mississippian Towns and Sacred Spaces: Searching for an Architectural Grammar*, edited by R. Barry Lewis, and Charles Stout, pp. 93-122. University of Alabama Press, Tuscaloosa.

Weymouth, John

1986 Geophysical Methods of Archaeological Site Surveying. *Advances in Archaeological Method and Theory* 9:311-395.

Wilson, Gregory D.

2008 *The archaeology of everyday life at early Moundville*. University Alabama Press, Tuscaloosa.

2010 Community, Identity, and Social Memory at Moundville. *American Antiquity* 75(1):3-18.

Wilson, Gregory D., Vincas Steponaitis, and Ketih Jacobi

2010 Social and Spatial Dimensions of Moundville Mortuary Practices. In *Mississippian Mortuary Practices: Beyond Hierarchy and the Representationist Perspective*, edited by Lynne Sullivan, and Robert Mainfort, pp. 74-89. University Press of Florida, Gainesville.

Wolf, Eric

1982 *Europe and the People Without History*. University of California Press, Berkeley.

Yaeger, Jason

2000 The Social Construction of Communities in the Classic Maya Countryside: Strategies of Affiliation in Western Belize. In *The Archaeology of Communities: A New World Perspective*, edited by Jason Yaeger, and Marcello Canuto, pp. 123-142. Routledge, London.

2021 The Archaeology of Mississippian Communities and Households: Looking Back, Looking Forward. In *Reconsidering Mississippian Communities and Households*, edited by Elizabeth Watts Malouchos, and Alleen Betzenhauser, pp. 227-240. University of Alabama Press, Tuscaloosa.

Yaeger, Jason, and Marcello Canuto

2000 Introducing an Archaeology of Communities. In *The Archaeology of Communities: A New World Perspective*, edited by Marcello Canuto, and Jason Yeager, pp. 1-15. Routledge, London.